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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MONA K. FLOYD,
Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 11-01228RC)
V. : Re Document Ne.: 49, 53

OFFICE OF REPRESENTATIVE SHEILA
JACKSON LEE

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

DENYING DEFENDANT’SMOTION TO DISMISS AND TO REVOKE PLAINTIFF 'SIN FORMA
PAUPERIS STATU S, GRANTING DEFENDANT’S M OTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

[. INTRODUCTION

In 2010, Mona K. Floyd served as Legislative Director and Chief Counsel in the dffice o
Congresswomanttila Jackson Leg In this acton, Ms. Floyd, who is proceedirig forma
pauperis alleges that Repackson Lee’s office failed to accommodage monocular vision,
subjected her to a hostile work environment, and retaliated against her foringpaest
accommodation, all in violation of the Congressional Accountability Act. She atgeslithat
the office’s deliberate failure to accommodate her impairment resulted in lstruobire
discharge.The office of Rep. Jackson Lee moves to dismiss ti@naan the basis that the
“allegation of poverty” irMs. Floyd’sapplication forin forma pauperistatus is “untrue,” 28
U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(A), and, in the alternative, for summary judgmesit olaims. Because

the Court concludes that Ms. Floyd’s “allegation of poverty” is not “untrue” and that

1 Although the office and not the officeholder is the defendant in thissse®,U.S.C.
88 1301(9), 1408(b), theadrt will sometimes refer to “the Representative” or “Rep. Jackson
Lee” as though she were personally defending the claims brought agaiofitdeer
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misstatements in ham forma pauperigapplication were neither material nor made in bad faith
denies the motion to dismis8ut becauseMs. Floyd has failed toreategenuine disputes of
material faciasto certain elements of eachlwdr claimsthe Court grants Rep. Jackson 'kee

motionfor summary judgmen its entirety

Il. FACTUAL BACKGROUND ?

From birth,Ms. Floydhas suffered from monocular vision, which is itheility to use
one eye.SeeFloyd Dep. at 150:6-23. This conditionreduces her readirgpeedandcauses her
eyestrain, eye fatigueand headacheshen reading for longer periodsl.

In January 1998, Ms. Floyd obtainkdrfirst andonly medical documentation ber
impairment To sypport herequesfor atesting accommodation for the 19@8lifornia bar
examnation, Ms. Floyd had Dr. Mitchell C. Shultz, an ophthalmologist, complete the State Bar
of California’s physical disability verification formSeed. at 152:6—-10, 154:20-2%e
generallyCal. bar exam fornDef.’s Ex. 5, ECF No. 53-4. On the form, Dr. Shultz indicated
that Ms. Floyd’s disabilitys “monofixation syndrome,” another term for monocular visiGal.

bar exam forni, Def.’s Ex. % see alsd-loyd Dep. at 150:18—-20n explaining the

2 In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, “[t]he evidence of the non-movant is to be
believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in [her] faviarderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). Accordingly, where facts relevant to the motion for
summary judgment are disputed, the Court will view the evidence in the lightamosilble to
Ms. Floyd. By contrast, Rep. Jackson Lee’s motion to dismiss under 28 U.S.C. § 1615 requires
the Court to weigh evidence and ascertain the truth of Ms. Floyd’s “allegation afypbve
Accordingly, the Court’s description of facts relevant to the motion to disniissowfavor any
party, though most facts relevant to that motion are undisputed.

3 Excerptsof Ms. Floyd’s deposition transcript appear on the docket in several places:
ECF Nos. 49-2, 53-1, 53-2, and 33-For simplicity, citations to her deposition will indicate
only page and line numbers, not exhibit or docket numbers. Given that otheridepasi
similarly fragmented (Mr. Berry’s deposition appears in ECF Nos. 56-2 and 57-3, pnd Re
Jackson Lee’s deposition in ECF Nos. 53-4 and 56-1), the Court will adopt the same convention
for all depositions.



impairment’s impactDr. Shultz wrote that “this deficiency in binocular vision may be impacting
[Ms. Floyd’s] ability to read fast secondary to alternation between the eyes and féatigabil
Cal. bar exam form 1, Def.’s Ex. He also indicated thad¥ls. Floyd’'simpairment is
“permanent.” Id.
On theform’s final page, Dr. Shultz recommended that Ms. Floydllmved specific
amounts of additionalme on certain portions of the bar examination. Explaitiisg‘[rjeasons
and basis,” he wrote that Ms. Floyd “has a disability in reading secondargraadittn between
eyes which prevents fluidity in reading thereby decreasing her speeadaig betweeA0-30
percent.”Id. at 3. When questioned about flgures “20-30 percent” during her deposition,
Ms. Floydcandidly testified:
Oh, I wasn’t measuring whethfsic] 20 percent or 30 percent less.
The doctor is making the estimate here. | can’t judge how much
faster or slower | may be reading because of my vision. | just
know that, in general, if I'm in a group and we’re asked to read
certain things, | see that others are finished and I'm still reading.
That's what made me say or. Shultz], “I'm not finishing
things.” He said, “You're relying on the one eye, and that's
causing you to slow down.” When | am sitting, working. . . , |
don’t say I'm reading 20 percent slower here or 30 percent slower
here. |just never did anything like that.

Floyd Dep. at 168:5-17.

In September 20084s. Floyd joinedthe Washington, D.C office of Rep. Jackson Lee
asa Congressional Black Caucus Foundafallow. Seed. at 40:9-18. About a month before
Ms. Floyd’s fellowship began, the Foundation inforntieel officeby memorandum that Ms.
Floyd had “a vision disabilt and would “need to take special precautions to reduce the strain
on her eyes.” Musgrove memo of Aug. 1, 2006, Def.’s Ex. 7, ECF No;, &emmlsd-loyd
Dep. at 50:2-14. The memorandtsted specificaccommodationthatMs. Floydhad

requestegdincluding voice recognitiosoftwareand text enlargemeggapabilities. SeeMusgrove



memo of Aug. 1, 2006, Def.’s Ex. 7. In support of these requests, Ms. Floyd had submitted to
the Foundation a copy of the disability verification form completed by Dr. Shtée-loyd
Dep. at 57:2—6.

During her time as a fellowMs. Floyd’s need for accommodations was satisfied, and she
had a positive relationship with the Representativeed. at 66:2—22. Soon after joining the
office, she received the voice reotgpn software and her computer had zoom capabilitiSge
id. at 53:12-17, 55:6-10. Although Ms. Floyd had expected the voice recognition software to
enable her to type without using her eyes to read both the keyboard andsszaedat 54:2-9,
55:15-20, she soaretermined that the software was more hindrance tharahdipad it
uninstalled though she continued to use the zoom fundtomt least part of the fellowshigee
id. at53:19-24, 56:6—24Because the software did not work apested, Ms. Floyd instead
verbally requestedf her direct supervisor, thdregislative Director Gregory Berryhat she be
given rest breaks and additioniahe to perform assignmentsnd he granted her requeSke id.
at44:14-18, 63:8-16. Ms. Floydsted whenever she started experiencingsegén and
headaches; by her estimate, a daily basisshe restedbout ten minutes for every three hours of
intensive readingSee idat 64:4—-20, 65:3-6.

After completingher fellowshipMs. Floyd washiredin August 2007as the office’s
Director ofHealth Rlicy ard Senior Legislative Asistant. SeeChastang email of Aug. 6, 2007,
Def.’s Ex. 10, ECF Ndb3-5. Shecontinued to have her needs accommodateel;loyd Dep. at
87:17-25, and to enjoy“aery positive” relation$ip with the Representativeee idat 85:25—

86:4. Ms. Floyd observed, howevtratthe Representativmetimes communicatén a “very

harsh” manner to other staffers and medripersonal attacks” when she wdissatisfied with



an individual’s work.Id. at 86:12—-23.In late 2007, Ms. Floyd resigned to pursue another
professional opportunitySee id.at90:16-19, 92—6.

In February 2010, Rep. Jacksoge’s Chief of Stafl_eon BuckrecruitedMs. Floyd to be
the Repregdative’s Legislative Drector andChief Gounsel. Id. at 102:14-103:6; Buck Dep. at
8:11-16. As they discussed the position, Ms. Floyd inforktiedBuck of her “vision
limitation” and “the fact that it takes [her] longer to rea&loyd Dep. at 104:6—7. Moreover,
she explainedhat she wouléccept the jolonly under certain conditionsSee d. at103:12—-22.
First, Ms. Floydrequested that the office employ at lemse additional Legislative Assistant; at
the time,it hadtwo. See id.at 107:18-110:18. Secondshe requested that shet have primary
responsibilityeitherfor issue areas assigned to other stafderf®r events occurringh Houston,
where the Representative’s district is locasdee considered such duties “nonessentigsed
on her understanding of the “scope of the position,” “priorities in the office,"@asd practices
of the office.” Id. at 112:14-117:15. Mr. Buckerballyagreedo these termsd. at106:13—
111:9, and Ms. Floyd joined the office as Legislative Director and Chief Courfsebinary
2010,seeJackson Lee letter of Feb. 22, 2010, Def.’s Ex. 13, ECF No. 53-5.

In her new post, Ms. Floyd had a wider range of legislative and supervisory
responsibilities than she hadprevious roles in the officeSeeFloyd Dep. at 119:10-21She
not only had a greater volume of woslee idat 120:16-19, but alseportedto the
Representativandregularlyreceival assignmentdirectly from her,see id.at 124:2—13.Mr.
Buck’s ealier promises, moreover, did not materialize. Although there was no formal policy

against taking rest breaks, Ms. Floyd’s “additional wddt"issue areas assigned to other

4 Ms. Floyd’s testimony is inconsistent@sthe number of Legislative Assistants
employed by the office at the time: She initially testified that there was onlytmyel Dep. at
107:7, but later stated that there were tdoat 107:20, 108:4, 110:13. This discrepancy is
immaterial, and th€ourt assumes that two is the correct number.



staffersand for functions taking place in Houston prevented her from té&maginuterest
breaksas she had previously donlel. at 138:2—-9. As a result, she oftead“continuously”for
periods longer than three houisl. at 136:2—139:18. ritially, howeverMs. Floyd did not
personally inform the Representatvieher needor accommodationSee idat 128:19-129:11.
Ms. Floyd first mentioned her monocular vision to the Representative on April 26, 2010.
Seeidat 129:19-131:16. That dagfterRep. Jackson Lee assigned Ms. Flegderakasks
with a specific deadlinayls. Floyd explained that she would delegagetain educationelated
tasksto the Legislative Assistamtith primary responsibility for education mattets. at
129:19-130:7. Wherné Representative made clear that Ms. Floyd needed to perform the tasks
herself Ms. Floyd explained her “vision disability,” her inability to use one eye handieed for
“more time” to complete the tasknd for “time to take a bredkld. at 130:8-18. In response,
the Representative stated that “she didn’t care any#dbogt [Ms. Floyd’s] vision disability,”
reiterated that she was not to delegatg work and toldnernot to “take ten years to get it
done” Id. at 130:19-23.
That eveningMs. Floyddecidedthat although Rep. Jackson Lee had showoamzern
for herdisability, she would still “tr[y] to find a way to get accommodations for [h&rpson
and be able to delegateld. at 131:12-16. She accordinglgnt the Representative an email
with the subject line “Legislative teamSeeFloyd email of Apr. 26, 2010, Def.’s Ex. 1BCF
No. 535. The emailisted several suggestions for helping ligislative teanovercome
“challenges” and work more efficientlpne of which was to make staff “accountable for their
assigned duties.1d. Additionally, Ms. Floyd recommended “add[ing] another legislative staff
in order to carry out [the Representative’s] agendd.” Although the email did naxpressly

mention Ms. Floyd’s monocular vision, the suggested changes would have provided her with



additional tine to take rest breakSeeFloyd Dep. at 133:7-18. The record contains no
evidence of any response from Rep. JacksorrLee.

Subsequentlythe Representativeld Ms. Floyd “many times” (at least on “more than
five” occasionswhen giving her new assignntemot totake “ten years” to complete those
tasks Id. at 171:19-172:16. Each time, Ms. Floyd would remind the Representatfeer
“vision limitations” and need for “more time.1d. at 141:9-17. Bspite the fact that Ms. Floyd
“would often talk about . . . [her] needing rest breaks in order to prevent headaches and eye
strain,” the Representative “repeatedly refused to even engage in a discussiubipoddatial
accommodationsld. at 173:8-12.

In May 2010, the Representative hired Nat Thomas as her new Chief of |8t aif.
143:10-14. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Floyd informed Mr. Thomas of her monocular vision and the
Representative’s unresponsiveness to her requests for authority to deddgatdasksso that
she would be able to take rest breaks and hawe time to complete assignmeng&ee idat
145:8-146:9. Mr. Thomas assured Ms. Floyd that he would discuss the matter with Rep.
Jackson Leeld. at 146:8—-9.Ms. Floyd revisited the atterwith Mr. Thomas at least four times
to no avail. Id. at 147:11.Ultimately, during one conversation on August 6, 2010, Mr. Thomas
explained thatvhen he had mentiondds. Floyd’'simpairment, the Representatikadsaid that
“she didn’tgive a damrabout . . her disability.” Id. at 148:22—-24. In respondds. Floyd told

him that the officehad violatecher rights and that she was considering filindiacrimination

> The amended complaint alleges that Rep. Jackson Lee never responded to Ms. Floyd’s
email. SeeAm. Compl. 9.

® To be sure, the record does not directly indicate that all of the “ten years erdenm
followed the April 26, 2010, exchange. However, Ms. Floyd testified that after esachears”
comment, she would mention her disability to Rep. JacksorskeeEJoyd Dep. at 141:9-17,
and that the April 26, 2010, exchange was the first time she told Rep. Jackson Lee about her
disability, see idat 129:19-131:16. Thus, Ms. Floyd’s testimony supports an inference that all
“ten years” comments followed the April 2010 conversation.



claim. Id. at 179:10-20. That day, she also decided that she would resign, though she did not
immediately notify the office of her decisiosee idat 179:6-20.
Days laterMr. Thomas left the office, andohannes Tsehai replaced has the new
Chief of Staff (the third that yea Seedd. at 149:10-15, 180:3-13. Ms. Floyd did not directly
inform Mr. Tsehai of her impairment or past requests for accommodatiend.at 149:16—
1505, thoughit was customarfor departingChiefs of Staff tdell successors about staff
members with special needgelacksoriLee Dep. at 88-84:3. In the month after she had
decided to resign, Ms. Floyd continued her employment, planning a children’s forwed hgst
Rep. Jackson LeeSeeFloyd Dep. at 193:23-1941
On September, 2010, Ms. Floydent a resignatioamail toMr. Tsehaistatingthat her
last day in the office would be September 17, 2010, the date of the children’s f&eeRloyd
email of Sept. 7, 2010, Def.’s Ex. 20, ECF No. 53¢ alsd-loyd Dep. at 193:23-194
Attached to the email was a memorandurd complainaddressed to Rep. Jackson Lee and Mr.
Tsehaj alleging thathe officehadviolated the Americans with Disabilities Aoy denying hern
reasonable accommodatjand in doing sbad constructively discharged h&eeFloyd memo
of Sept. 7, 2010, Def.’s Ex. 20, ECF No. 53-6; Floyd Compl., Def.’s Ex. 21, ECF No. 53-6.
On bénalf of the Representative, Mr. Tseleaicouraged Ms. Floyd to return to work with
accommodations and, albatively, tried to negotiate a severance pack&peFloyd Dep. at
213:16-215:15Floyd-Tsehai emails of Sept. 24, 2010, Def.’s Ex. 23, ECF No. 53-6. Rep.
Jackson Le@structed Mr.Tsehai to bring[Ms. Floyd] back” and to providewhatever she
may ned.” JacksorLee Dep. at 101:8-10. Negotiations, however, ultimately proved unfruitful.

SeeFloyd Dep. at 213:16-215:15.



In June 2011, Ms. Floygroceedingro se filed this suit under the Congressional
Accountability Act,2 U.S.C. 88 130&t seq. The amended complaint assatf@ms for failure
to accommodate, hostile work environment, retaliation based ordisctiete materially adverse
actiors and ahostile work environment, and constructive dischaigee generalbAm. Compl.,
ECF No. 19. Rep.atkson Le movedo dismisgshe amendedomplaint. SeeECF No. 22. he
Court granted the motiaas to Ms. Floyd'slaim for retaliation based aiscretematerially
adverse actia) but denied the motion as to all other clairSse generall¥loydv. Jackson
Lee 968 F. Supp. 2d 308 (D.D.C. 2013) (ECF No. ZB)bsequently, Ms. Floyd retained
counsel. SeeECF No. 39.

Throughout this litigation, Ms. Floyd has proceedetbrma pauperis The day she filed
her original complaint, the Court granted her applicatomn forma pauperistatus dated June
23, 2011, in which she reported her income and assets under penalty of fgegigenerally
App. to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (“IFP Apth,Nb. 2;

Fiat Order Ganting Mot. Leave Procedd Forma PauperigJune 29, 2011). In that application,
Ms. Floyd declared that she was “currently unemployed and ha[d] been sincal8al&,

2010,” the last day she reported to work as a congressional staffer for Rep. laekstFP

App. 1 2. The application requires employed applicants to state both their “gross pagsir wa
and “takehome pay or wages.ld. I 2. In the next section, the application requests all income
“received during the previous twelve months, regardless of the applicamttsntemployment
status.ld. § 3. In response, Ms. Floyd reported $54,B0€ongressional salary receiviedm

February to September of 2010, $9,381.0@ithdrawals from retirement accourtsring



2011/ and $2,800 in payment for assisting her sister with erradés.idf3. She also reported
$1,000 held in a checking or savings account and an automobile on which she was making loan
payments.See idf 1 4, 5. Ms. Floyd further averred: “It is uncertain as to what, if any money, |
will receive in the future,” and “[Because] | have been unemployed nine mbhths depleted
most of my savings.1d. 11 3, 4.

During discovery, Rep. Jackson Lee moved to disthissomplaint with prejudice, on
the basis that Ms. Floyd's ltagation of poverty is untrue” and thstte had made material
misrepresentations in bad faithher application to proceeaad forma pauperis 28 U.S.C.
§81915(e)(2)(A);see alsdef.’s Mot. Dismiss, ECF No. 49Separatelysubsequent to the
completion of discovery, Rep. Jackson Lee moved for summary judgmeahtodis. Floyd’s
remaining claims.SeeDef.’s Mot. Summ. JECFNo. 53. Both the motion to dismiss and the

motion for summary judgmeiatre now ripe for adjudication.

[ll. LEGAL STANDARD S
A. Dismissal for Untrue Allegation of Poverty
28 U.S.C. § 1915 governs the rights and obligations associatethvigtima pauperis
status, which exempts persons from prepaying filing fees and costs if femetditigation.
See Rowlad v. Cal. Men’s Colony, Unit Il Men’s Advisory Coun&i06 U.S. 194, 196 (1993).
The statute requires applicants ifoforma pauperistatus td'submi[t] an affidavit that includes

a statement of all assets . . . [dhdt states] that the person isable to pay . . . fees or give

" Thein forma pauperispplication does not reveal the precise date of one of these
withdrawals—$4,160 from the Federal Thrift Savings Plan. In her opposition to Rep. Jackson
Lee’s motion to dismisdVis. Floydclaims that she made the withdrawal on “March 28,” and the
Court assumes this to mean “March 28, 2011,” given that the withdrawal appears onyls. Flo
1099-R for the 2011 tax year, which Rep. Jackson Lee attached to her motion to disaiss.
Pl’s Mem.Opp’n 5, ECF No. 51; 1099-R, ECF No. 49-2. In any event, the date of this
withdrawal does not affect the Court’s analysis below.



security therefor.” 28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(1). If the court determines “atraey tihat “the
allegation of poverty is untrue,” it “shall dismiss the case . 1d.’§8 1915(e)(2)(A).

“Becausd8 1915(¢e)(2)(A)Juses theommand ‘shall,’” dismissal is mandatory in the face
of untrue allegations of povertyOquendo v. Gererb94 F. Supp. 2d 9, 11 (D.D.C. 2009). But
courts adopé flexible approach in assessing tladsity of theseallegatiors. Anin forma
pauperisaffidavit “is sufficient which states that one cannot because of his poverty pay or give
security for the costs and still be able to provide himself and dependents withebsitiesc of
life.” Rowland 506 U.S. at 203 (quotingdkins v. E.l. DuPont de Nemours & €835 U.S.

331, 339 (1948)) (internal alterations and quotation marks omitted). Determinationshalitgligi
“must be made separately in every cade.te Green 669 F.2d 779, 786 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (per
curiam) see alsd&mrit v. Bank of Am., Inc566 F. App’x 265, 265 (4th Cir. 2014)
(unpublished) (“A district court has discretion to grant or deny IFP status and reestsha
decision on the poverty and good faith of the applicant and the meritorious character of the
cause.” (internal quoti@n marks and citation omitted))Thein forma pauperistatute neither
requires a litigant to demonstrate absolute destitutiomegmires dismissal for inaccuracies,
misstatements, or minor misrepresentations made in good fafémih v. Comm’r oN.Y. City
Dep’t of Corr., 496 F. App’x 113, 115 (2d Cir. 2012) (unpublished) (internal quotation marks
and citations omitted) Indeed, the purpose of 8 1915(e)(2)(# not to punish the litigant
whose affidavit contains an insignificant discrepancy, but to weed out the livharfalsely
understates his net worth in order to obtaiforma pauperistatus to which he is not entitled
based upon his true financial worthCamp v. Oliver 798 F.2d 434, 438 n.3 (11th Cir. 1986).
On the other hand, a neaial misrepresentation might “rise to the level of an untrue allegation of

poverty requiring dismissal . .”. Vann 496 F. App’x at 115.In sum, courts must determine



whetheran accurateeport of the applicant’s finances would have “foreclasddrma pauperis
eligibility.” Camp 798 F.2d at 438.

Although 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(A) mandates dismissal for a false allegation ofypovert
“Congress intended to leave the decision to dismiss with or without prejudice in tred distr
court’s discretiorf Mathis v.N.Y.Life Ins. Co, 133F.3d 546, 548 (7th Cir. 1998) (citation
omitted). Dismissal with prejudide an appropriate punitive measure wheredorma
pauperisapplicant provides false information in bad faith or with intent to deceive the Qegt.
Vann 496 F. App’xat116. Relevant to a determination of bad faith are “a plaintiff's familiarity
with thein forma pauperisystem and history of litigatiorénd his*failure to aedibly explain
or correct his declarations when given an opportunity to dolgodt 115, 116.

B. Summary Judgment

A court may grant summary judgment when “the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant iseshtio judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.

R. Civ. P. 56(a). A “material” fact is one capable of affecting the substantieenoeitof the
litigation. SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

The principal purpose of summary judgmes to streamline litigation by disposing of
factually unsupported claims or defenses and determining whether therenisreegesed for
trial. SeeCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323-24 (1986). The movant bears the initial
burden of identifying portions of the record that demonstrate the absence of amegsesug of
material fact. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1§elotex 477 U.S. at 323. In response, the non-
movant must point to specific facts in the record that reveal a genuine issigesthetble for
trial. SeeCelotex 477 U.S. at 324. In considering a motion for summary judgment, a court must

“eschew making credibility determinations or weighing the evidend8ggkalski v. Peterg75



F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and all unglenyj facts and inferences must be analyzed in the
light most favorable to the non-movaseeAnderson477 U.S. at 255. Nevertheless,
conclusory assertions offered without any evidentiary support do not establish a gesuene i

for trial. SeeGreene vDalton, 164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

IV. ANALYSIS
A. Motion to Dismiss and to Revokdn Forma Pauperis Status

In her motionto dismiss Rep. Jackson Lee contends tigs Court must dismiss the case
with prejudice because evidenaatained during discoveidemonstratethatMs. Floyd’s
“allegation of poverty is untrue.” 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)@ee generallyjvlem. Supp. Def.’s
Mot. Dismiss ECF No. 49-1.

The parties’ disagreemeaverMs. Floyd’s declared income and asdeddls down to
two matters First,Rep. Jackson Ledaims thatMs. Floyd understated the amounts of her
retirement account withdrawals by $4,095, and that she accordingly withdrew $13,446, not
mere$9,381. SeeMem. Supp. Def.’s Mot. Dismiss 4.hiE discrepaegy, the parties agree,
results fromMs. Floyd’s use of postax netamounts, rather than pre-tax gross amou8tse
TIAA CREF letter of July 2, 2014, Pl.’s Ex. 4, ECF No. 518kcond, Rep. Jackson Lee alleges
thatMs. Floyd omitted$5,226from herreported ongressional staffer income, and that she
earnedb59,726, not $54,5005eeMem. Supp. Def.’s Mot. Dismiss 3—4Ms. Floyd concedes
that the $54,50€gure excludes hertadent loan reimbursemertist disputes the relevance of
the $59,728igure—her total Social Secuyi and Medicarevagesappearing on her 2010 W-2.
SeeW-2 box 3, 5, Pl.’s Ex. 2, ECF No. 51-&he furthecontends that, in any eveshe
actuallyoverstated her staffer incony $29,501, since tha forma pauperisapplicationasked

only for her income from the twelve onths preceding her application (June 23, 2010—June 23,



2011) whereashe reportedll of her congressionalalary—lessstudent loan reimbursements—
from February 2010 onwardseePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 3—4, ECF No. 51.

At the outset, the CouréjectsRep. Jackson Leearguendocontention in her replthat
dismissal is mandatotyecauseeven if the Courtvere to accept af Ms. Floyd'sfigures, her
income during the twelve-month period preceding her applicatiomhdvatill exceedhe 2011
poverty threshold of $11,702 in annual income, as defined by the U.S. Census EBgeau.
Def.’s Reply 7 (citing Mem. Supp. Def.’s Mot. Dismiss 13). Rep. Jackson Lee cites no authority
for the proposition that the U.S. Census Bureau’s povertylifiaesin forma pauperistatus®
28 U.S.C. § 1915 incorporates no precise poverty threshold, and Congress kndasvnibsv
statutes that d® Moreover,as explained abova, hard quantitativencomethreshold is foreign
to thein forma pauperigletermination, whicls a discretionary assessment of a plaintiff's ability
to “pay or give security for the coqtsf litigation] and still be able to providernhself and
dependentwiith the necessities of life Rowland 506 U.S. at 203ee also In re Greelt69
F.2d at 786.Lastly, Rep. Jackson Lediscomebasedhreshold would overloossetsdebts,

andother factors relevant to assessing a litigaaiidity to pay court fees and costs.

8 Rep. Jackson Lee does cltshnsors passing observation that: “[l]t is clear that [the
plaintiff's] standard of living i;mowhere near the Government’s established poverty level.”
Johnson v. Spellingd79 F. Supp. 2d 188, 191 (D.D.C. 2008).Jdhmnsonthe plaintiff
“underestimate[d] her assets by more than $562,00D At 190. This Court does not read this
observation to mean that any government poverty threshold dictdtema pauperis
determinations; rather, tl®hnsorcourt simply noted that an forma pauperigpplicant is not
sufficiently impoverished when her wealth departs drastically from commomstaci@ngs of
poverty.

% Cf.28 U.S.C. § 1930(f)(1) (providing for waiver of bankruptcy case filing fee for
individual with “income less than 150 percent of the income official poverty line (eedddy
the Office of Management and Budget, and revised annually in accordancedtiibim £€73(2)
of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981) applicable to a family of zearsiolved
and is unable to pay that fee in installments”).

10 Even the U.S. Census Bureau explains that its income thresholds exclialegeams
and serve only as a “statistical yardstick, not as a complete descriptitvatopeople and



Although no hard quantitative threshold exists, the Court must, of course, assess the truth
of Ms. Floyd’s “allegation of poverty.” 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(A). The Court fthdsMs.
Floyd overstated herongressioal stafferincomesignificantly, though not by as much as she
claims: Her reportablgrosscongressional salary amounted to $33,332—$21ld€68than the
amountthat she reportett As for her retirement account withdrawals, the Court concliindes
herreporting of only net amounts was insufficient. The application requires esdpamplicants
to report both “gross pay” and “take-home gdiFP App. 1 2, and althougls. Floyd was
unemployed, she should haeportedher gross total retiremeaccount withdrawals of
$13,074.11alongside the afteiaxtotal, id. T 3 TIAA CREF letter of July 2, 2014, Pl.’s Ex.'3.

The remaining datare undisputed, though still relevant—3$2,800 received from her sister,

families need to live.” How the Census Bureau MeasRoe®rty, U.S. Census Bureau,
http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/poverty/about/overview/measure.(iast visited Mar. 31
2015). By contrast, the forma pauperigpplication gives a fuller picture of an applicant’s
finances, requiring reporting afl income sources, as well as all assets debts.SeelFP App.
1 3(f) (requiring reporting of “[ajypother sources” of incomey. 1 5 (requiring reporting of
“[alny . . . thing of value that [the applicant] own[s]Rep Jackson Lee’s threshold also seems
unworkable for assessimg forma pauperigpplicationsof prisoners, who have limited income
and expensesCf. Vann 496 F. App’x at 116 (denying motion for leave to proceed IFP on
appeal where prisoner had received $2,059.10 in deposits during preceding twelve months);
Martin v. United States317 F. App’x 869, 870—71 (11th Cir. 2008) (unpublh@ffirming
denial of IFP application where district court found that prisoner had received $1 @4;8asits
in the preceding six months but “chose to spend those funds on matters other than this
litigation”).

1 The incomehat Ms. Floydreceivedbetween June 23, 2010, and June 23, 2011,

includes her salary for the June 2010 pay period, which she received on June 3@e2010.
Paystubs, Pl.’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 51-3.

12 This figure is the sum of the TIAA CREF withdrawals in 2011 of $3,950 and
$2,765.11, and the $6,359 withdrawn from the Federal Thrift Savings Plan. Rep. Jackson Lee’s
figure included Ms. Floyd’s August 2011 withdrawal of $402.21 from her TIAA CREF account,
but this withdrawal occurred after the filing of heiforma pauperigpplicaion on June 23,
2011. SeeTlAA CREF letter of July 2, 2014, Pl.’s Ex. 4.



$1,000 in cash or in a bank accourer$1,233 reitement accounalance® andher
automobile.

On the basis ahese figureshe Court declines in its discretion to find théd. Floyd’s
“allegation of poverty is untrue.” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2)(Kk) arguingover the amount d¥ls.
Floyd's reportable2010 @ngressional income, both parties overlook oneial, undisputed
fact: At the time of hem forma pauperigetition,Ms. Floyd was unemployed and no longer
receiving income as a congressional staffedeed, she received her final paycheck on
September 30, 2010, nearly nine monkegore she applied fan forma pauperistatus. See
Paystubs, Pl.’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 51-3. Thesenthe $33,332 in@ngressional salary thists.
Floyd should have reported does not wesggnificantlyagainst grantig herin forma pauperis
status Cf. Robinson v. Koch Foods Afa., No. 2:13€V-557, 2014 WL 4472609, at *2 (M.D.
Ala. Sept. 11, 2014) (finding that income earned ten months before IFP application, even if
reported, “would have made no difference to the . . . decision to grant . . . IFP status”).
Moreover, Rep. Jackson Lee does not displgeFloyd’s statement in her application tlsdte

had “depleted most of [her] savings.” IFP App. ¥ 4'he fact thaMs. Floyd largely exhausted

13 Although Ms. Floyd did not initially report this retirement account balance, she
concedes this omission in her opposition to the motion to dismiss, and Rep. Jackson Lee does not
dispute this amount in reply5eePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 5-6.

14 Rep. Jackson Lee claims that the Court should find “misleading” Ms. Floyd'si@ssert
that her future income was “uncertain,” given that she withdrew from a retitemesunt
another $402.21 just over a month after submitting her applicsieeMem. Supp. Def.’s Mot.
Dismiss 9. Relatedly, Rep. Jackson Lee derives ffthomas v. General Motors Acceptance
Corp,, 288 F.3d 305 (7th Cir. 2002), the proposition that applicants have a general “obligation to
amend” arin forma pauperigpplication upon receiving any subsequent income. Mem. Supp.
Def.’s Mot. Dismiss 9. As to the first point, the Court does not find Ms. Floyd’s cletrher
income was “uncertain” to be misleading, given that at the diter application, her retirement
accounts had already been largely liquidated, and there is no evidence that shyeshealdgn
income or concrete plans to withdraw further amounts. Secondly, the Court does not read
Thomasas supporting a general “obligation to amend.” Themascourt faulted the plaintiff
for failing to disclose a substantial retirement account distribution for $58,990akat w



her retirement accotsin the months aftdrecoming unemployed furtherprobative ofher

limited means.In sum, at the time of her applicatidvis. Floyd was unemployed and without
anysteady incomeshe had alreadiquidated mosbf her retirement accounts; and her assets
were limited t0$1,000 in cash or bank holdings, her $1,233 retirement account balance, and her
automobile. A plaintiff need not “demonstrate absolute destitution” to qualifyrfdorma
pauperisstatus Vann 496 F. App’x at 1150n tis record the Court concludes thists.

Floyd's allegation of poverty isot “untrue” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2)(A).

Moreover, &houghMs. Floyd’sin forma pauperigpplication was natrrorfree Rep.
Jackson Lee has ndemonstratethatanymisstatemerstwere material or madeth intent to
deceive the CourtAs for lack of materialitythe student loan reimbursemeatsl the taxes paid
on her retirement account withdrawamount at mostto a few thousand dollars, and in any
event, do not impad¥ls. Floyd’s ability to pay court fees given that she diddicgctly receive
the funds.Cf. Johnson v. Spelling§79 F. Supp. 2d 188, 190-91 (D.D.C. 2008) (dismissing
complaint upon finding that the plaintiff, an accountadinitted that she underestimatest
assets by more than $562,000 in order to avoid paying court fees). In partiddimce of her
omittedstudent loan reimburseentsis a washEven if she had listed this amount as income, she
would have been able to list the loan as a debt (which she didSes)-P App. T 8 (“Any debts
or financial obligations”). Bmissalunder § 1915(e)(2)(A) should not be based on

“inaccuracies, misstatements, or minor miggsentations made in good faitivann 496 F.

completed after the application, but which he had initiated before applyinmgftoma pauperis
status. SeeThomas 288 F.3d at 306.



App’x at 115. And ultimatelythe omittedamountsare more than eclipsdxy Ms. Floyd’s
$21,1680verstatement of her congressional satary

Nor is there evidence to show tis. Floyd acted in bad faittwith intent toobtainin
forma pauperistatus by deceptigisuch that dismissatith prejudice might be warranteé
Rep. Jackson Lee makes much of the factMsatloyd isan attorneyamiliar with the
consequences of making statements “under penalty of perjMeti. Supp. Def.’s Mot.
Dismiss 7.But Ms. Floyd’s generaknowledgeof what “perjury” meangassumed to be
properly imputed to her) is wholly distinct from knowledge of wdtatementsvould constitute
perjury inthis particular context. Heréhere is no evidence thils. Floyd had any special
“familiarity with thein forma pauperisystem” or prior experience with forma pauperis

applications through ‘history of litigation” Vann 496 F. App’x at 118/ The closest issues

15The Court finds Rep. Jackson Lee’s other factual quibbles to be immaterial. Rep.
Jackson Lee ventures so far as to claim that Ms. Floyd’s reporting Septemi2010, as her
last day of work on the basis that it was healfishay in the office, as opposed to September 30,
2010, when she received her final paycheck, “strains credibility [sic].” Mem. Supjs Met.
Dismiss 10. In passing, Rep. Jackson Lee also asserts that Ms. Floydig$saweiuld, in
theory, include her 2010 wageg]’ at 13, but there is no evidence that Ms. Floyd had saved a
significant amount of her 2010 wages, and Rep. Jackson Lee does not dispute that as of June
2011, Ms. Floyd had only $1,000 in cash or in a bank account, IFP App. 1 4.

16 Cf. Chambers v. NASCO, In601 U.S. 32, 46 (1991) (explaining that court may draw
on “inherent poweto police itself and award attorneys’ fees sanction if “fraud has been
practicedupon it” or a party “shows bad faith by delayiogdisrupting the litigatiof); Shepherd
v. Am. Broad. Cos., Inc62 F.3d 1469, 1477 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (explaining that proof by “clear
and convincing evidence” of misconduct in litigation is prerequisite for imposing piniti
inherent power sanctions).

7 To be clear, a court could find that the “truth” of an overarching allegation of poverty
remains intact and that any mistakes are minor, but still find that certain false vep@tfade
in bad faith. Because the evidence of bad faith here is insufficient, the Court needmandete
today how it would exercise its discretion in such a scenario, though it appears thabottse
generally favor dismissalSeevVann 496 F. App’x at 115 (“[A]lthough a [person’s]
misrepresentation of his or her fina@cassets might not necessarily rise to the level of an untrue
allegation of poverty requiring dismissal in all cases, dismissal under 8§ 19)&E)¢Xertainly
appropriate where a plaintiff conceals or misrepresents his or her finessaéd ar histy in
bad faith to obtaiimn forma pauperistatus.”);Chriswell v. Big Score Ent’t, LLC, No. 11 C



areMs. Floyd’sill -considered decisions to deduct student le@mbursemenamounts from he
gross salargnd to report only posax, netretirement account withdrawal® But given that the
in forma pauperigpplication ambiguasly asks for income “receivedfie Court declines, in the
absence of other evidence, to finad faith SeelFP App. { 31°

Lastly, the Couraddresses the roté credibility determinations. Ms. Floyd is correct
that credibilityjudgmentsconcerning the merits of this caseq, whether she hasdasability)
are the province of @ry. SeePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 7 But here,the Courtmaymakecredibility
judgmentgelevant to determining whether radlegation of poverty is “untrue” under
81915(e)(2)(A) Cf.Vann 496 F. App’x at 116affirming dismissal with prejudice in part
because of plaintiff's “failure teredibly explain or correct his declarations when given an

opportunity to do so” (emphasis addedphnson579 F. Supp. 2d at 190 (finding plaintiff's

00861, 2013 WL 3669074, at *6 & n.10 (N.D. lll. July 12, 2013) (ordering plaintiff to pay $55
sanction after finding that she was in fact indigent, and that she had integtaméted various
assets and income in her IFP application, but explaining that had she acted irhbad fait
“dismissal with prejudice would be warranted”).

18 Ms. Floyd’s reluctance in her deposition to acknowledge that she referesrced h
paystub in preparing the application is concerning, though the passage of threeigkaave
clouded her memorySeeFloyd Dep. at 15-22. In any event, given the relatively small amounts
at issue, the ambiguity in the application’s language, andliimate overstatement of her
income, the Court declines to find that the omission stemmed from bad faith.

191n finding that this record contains insufficient evidence of bad faith, the Colirtesec
to follow the Eighth Circuit’s opinion iRomesburgy. Trickey 908 F.2d 258 (8th Cir. 1990),
which affirmed a dismissal with prejudice based on a finding of bad fiitlat 260. The
district court there had found bad faith where the prisoner-plaintiff acknowlekigiellet failed
to disclose his ownership of real property, but explained that his elderly wifehivaedduse on
the property, which in any event was worth only $5,000, and that a “jailhouse lawgler” ha
advised him that real property ownership was “not relevarnti torma pauperistatus.Id. at
259.



testimony “patently incredible’) Nonetheless, the Court finohsufficient evidencdor doubting
either Ms. Floyd’sgood faith or theiltimateveracity of her allegation of poverfy.

BecauséVis. Floyd's “allegation of poverty” is not “untruegdismissal is not mandated
by 28 U.S.C. § 1915(¢e)(2)(A). Moreovéecausehe Court finds no evidence of bad faith,
dismissal with prejudice is unwarrante@ihe Court does not condone the apparent sloppiness
with which Ms. Floyd, a trained attorney, prepared her submission to the Court. Butongr
were both in her favor and to her detriment. AccordintgCourt denies Rep. Jackson Lee’s
motion to dismiss and to revokés. Floyd’s in forma pauperistatus.

B. Failure to Provide a Reasonable Accommodation

Ms. Floyd alleges that Rep. Jackson Lee failed to provide a reasonable accormmodati
for her monocular vision disability, in violation of the Congressional Accountalitity See
Am. Compl. 11-16.

The Congression@iccountabilityAct extends th@rotections of the Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. 88 1210&t seq.to employees afongressional offices.
SeeOscarson v. Office of Senate Sergeant at A8 F.3d 1, 2 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (citing 2
U.S.C. § 1311(a)(3))The ADA, in turn, provides that no covered entity shall “discriminate
against a qualified individual on the basis of disability.” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a). Such
discrimination include$not makingreasonable accommodatiorist a “qualified individual
with a disability,” unless doing so would constitute an undue hardsthig. 12112(b)(5)(A).In
order to make out prima facie case for a failit®-accommodate claimnder the ADA, a

plaintiff mustshow that (i) she was disabled within the meaning of the [ADA));, leer

20 Specifically, the Court finds that Ms. Floyd’s inconsequential errors andatement
in her 2011 tax return that she was not disabled do not undermine her credibility asttertine
her allegation of povertySeeMem. Supp. Def.’s MotDismiss 14-15.



employer had notice of her disability; Jishe was able to perform the essential functions of her
job with or without reasonable accommodation; anfiHer employer denied her request for a
reasonable accommodation of that disabilitolomon v. Vilsack’63 F.3d 1, 9 (D.C. Cir.

2014) (setting forth elements of a Rehabilitation Act fatioraccommodate claim) (internal
citations omitted)see also idat 5 (explaining that ADA and Rehabilitation Act standards for
failure-to-accommodate claims are idieatl).?*

In her motion for summary judgment, Rep. Jackson Lee asisatthe evidence cannot
establish any of the foyarima facie elements @f failureto-accommodate claimSeeDef.’s
Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 15-28, ECF No253Below, the Court conders each element in
turn.

1. Disability

Rep. Jackson Ld@ast contends thaghe is entitled to summary judgmemMs. Floyd’s
failure-to-accommodate clailecausehe evidence cannot sufficiently support a finding that
Ms. Floyd had a “disability”under the ADA.SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 15-20.

The ADA provides three definitions fddisability,” with respect to an individual:

(A) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or
more major life activities of sudhdividual;

(B) a record of such an impairment; or
(C) being regarded as having such an impairment][.]

21 Rep. Jackson Lee relies Btheridge v. FedChoice Fed. Credit Unjat89 F. Supp. 2d
27 (D.D.C. 2011), for the elements of the prima facie case, but that opirsstates the
“qualified individual” element: An individual is “qualified” $he can perform her essential
duties withor withoutreasonable accommodatioSee idat 35;see also Martin v. District of
Columbig No. 11ev-01069, 2015 WL 294723, at *28 n.58 (D.D.C. Jan. 23, 2015).

22 Rep. Jackson Lee does not assert the affirmdgfense that provision of a requested
accommodation would have constituted an undue hardSlep42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A); 29
C.F.R. 8 1630.15(dNorden v. Sampeb03 F. Supp. 2d 130, 145 (D.D.C. 2007).



Id. 8§ 12102(1). In passing the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 (“ADALPNgress expressly
rejectecthe Supreme Court’s previous narrow interpretatiordefdbility.” SeeADAA, Pub. L.
No. 110-325, § 2(b)(4), 122 Stat. 3553, 3554 (2008). As amended, the ADA provides that the
term “disability” “shall be construed in favor of broad coverage of individuals . . . .”.82U
§ 12102(4)(A). Similarly, “sultantially limits” must be “interpreted consistently with the
findings and purposes of the [ADAA],” and an impairment needtsuiially limit only one
major life activity to qualify as a disabilityd. 8 12102(4)(B), (C).Such “ngjor life activities”
include “reading.”ld. 8 12102(2)(A). To be sureshile the ADAA “makes itasierto prove a
disability, it does noabsolvea party from proving one.Neel v. PSEG Tex., Ltd®’ship, 735
F.3d 242, 245 (5th Cir. 201,3ee als®?9 C.F.R. § 1630.2(})(ii) (“[N]ot every impairment
will constitute a disability within the meaning of this sectior®)

As amended after th®DAA’s enactment, thEqual Employment Opportunity
Commission (EEOC’) regulations provide thate phrasésubstantially limits” is “not meant to
be a demanding standard,” 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(j)(1)(i), and shall be construed “to require a
degree of functional limitation that is lower than the standard” that predated#&,Ad.

§ 1630.2(j)(1)(iv)** An impairment qualifies as a disability “if it substantially limits the ability

23 The ADAA took effect on January 1, 20682 ADAA, Pub. L. No. 110-325, § 8, 122
Stat. 3553, 3559 (2008), and the statute does not have retroactivesefiegtes v. D.C. Water
& Sewer Auth.572 F.3d 936, 939-42 (D.C. Cir. 2008ut the ADAA’s lack of retroactive
effect does not help Rep. Jaok Lee: Ms. Floyd alleges that201Q she provided notice of her
disability and was denied a reasonable accommodafiea infraPart IV.B.2; Am. Compl. 4—
10.

24 Before the ADAA, the level of deference warranted@8OC regulations interpreting
“disability” was an open question, given that the ADA did not expressly delegate @tieepr
authority to that agencySee, e.gSutton v. United Air Lines, Inc527 U.S. 471, 479-80 (1999)
(declining to consider questiorg¢cord Singh v. George Wash. Univ. Sch. of Med. & Health
Scis, 508 F.3d 1097, 1102 (D.C. Cir. 2007). But in the ADAA, Congress expressly delegated to
the EEOC “the authority to issue regulations implementing the definitions ofliysei42



of an individual to perform a major life activity as compared to most people in thegene
population,” though it “need not prevent, orrgfgcantly or severely restrict” such actiyit Id.
8 1630.2(j)(2)(ii)). Comparing an individual's performance of a major life activity to that of most
people in the general population “usually will not require scientific, medicakatistical
analysis,” though such evidence is permissible “whepropriate.”Id. § 1630.2(j)(1)(V).
Moreover,‘in determining whether an individual is substantially limited in a major life activity,
it may be useful . . . to consider . . . the manner in which the individual performs the major life
activity; and/or the duration of time it takes the individual to perform the major lifatgcoy
for which the individual can perform the major life activityd. 8 1630.2(j)(4)(i). Lastlycourts
applying the actual or “record of” definitions of “disability” should fothisir analysison the
existence of gubstantial limitation, “not on what outcomes an individual can achiasgite
of an impairment Id. 8 1630.2(j)(4)(iii).

Here,Ms. Floyd alleges thdiecause her monocular vision substantially limited her

ability to read she had a disabilitgs defined in the ADASeeAm. Compl. 122° The parties

U.S.C. §] 12102.” 42 U.S.C. § 12205a. The Court thus gives the EEOC regulations “controlling
weight.” Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council,, 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1984).

Additionally, the EEOC regulations defining “disability,” which were adeshin 2011,
do not expressly provide for any retroactive effect, and the events in this cagedat 2010.
But the 2010 regulations’ definition of the critical phrase “substantially linditgctly conflicts
with the ADAA. See29 C.F.R. 8 1630.2()) (2010) (defining “substantially Ishito mean
“[u]lnable to perform” or “[s]ignificantly restricted as to the condition, marmmeduration under
which an individual can perform a particular major life activity”). Accoglly, the Court
applies the amended EEOC regulations retroactively, and unless otherwise IhBEe@G
regulations cited in this Memorandum Opinion correspond to the 2011 edition of the Code of
Federal RegulationsSeeGregor v. Polar Semiconductor, In&No. 11€v-3306, 2013 WL
588743, at *3 n.5 (D. Minn. Feb. 13, 20X3)'lhe amended EEOC regulations are persuasive
indicia of Congress’s intent when promulgating the ADAAA.”).

25 The amended complaint alleges that in addition to reading, Ms. Floyd’s monocular
vision also limits the major life activities of “concentratiragd “thinking.” Am. Compl. 12.
The Court will not consider these major life activities, given that the recordns ade¢o any
limitations on these abilities of Ms. Floyd. In their summary judgment filings, thiepaeem



do not dispute tha¥ls. Floyd’s monocular vision is a “physical . . . impairment” or that reading
is a “major life activit[y]” under the ADA. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A), (2)(AYheydisagree,
however,as towhether Ms. Floyd has met her burggrsummary judgmeno proffer evidence
that hemonocular vision “substantially limits” her ability to realdl. 8 12102(1)(A). This
inquiry is particularly important in light dhe Supreme Court’s guidantteatalthough
monocularision will “ordinarily” qualify as a disability, the ADA still “requires monocula
individuals . . . to prove a disability by offeringiéence that the extent of the limitation [of their
visual abilities]is substantial.”Albertson’s, Incv. Kirkingburg, 527 U.S. 555567 (1999)%°

For the reasons given below, the Court concludes that Dr. Shultz’s 1998 diagnosis—and this
evidence alone-creates genuine disputef material facias to whether Ms. Floyd’s monocular
vision “substantially limits” her ability to read and, accordingly, consstagisability under the

ADA.%

to agree that in additioto reading, the major life activity of “seeing” is also at issbeeDef.’s

Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 16 (citing Floyd Dep. at 155-56). But nowhere does the amended
complaint allege that Ms. Floyd’'s major life activity of “seeing” is impacted,“argrty may

not amend its complaint or broaden its claims through summary judgment bridiirsgyitt of
Columbia v. Barrie741 F. Supp. 2d 250, 263 (D.D.C. 2010). In any event, the major life
activity of “reading” suffices for this analysis, since an amment need only limit one major life
activity to qualify as an actual disabilitpee29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(1)(viii).

26 AlthoughKirkingburg was decided before the ADAA was enacted, nothing in the
ADAA or amended regulations undermines its holding that individuals who suffer from
monocular vision are ngier sedisabled and must establish that the limiting effects of their
impairment are substantiabeePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 22see als®?9 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(j)(3)(ii)
(identifying several impairments, not including monocular vision, that “will, as a factual matter,
virtually always be found to impose a substantial limitation on a major life activity”).

27 Ms. Floyd does not rely on the “record of” definition of disabiliBeeAm. Compl.
12; 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1). Thus, the Court need not consider Rep. Jackson Lee’s alternative
argument that Ms. Floyd has not offered evidence sufficient to establisihéhaad a “record
of” an impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activiti&zeDef.’s Mem.
Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 20 n.12; Def.’s Reply 5s€e alscdAdams v. Rigeb31 F.3d 936, 945-46
(D.C. Cir. 2008) (“The ‘record of’ definition [of disability] was tailor-made paintiffs who . . .
claim they once sufferedom a physical or mental impairment that substantially limited a major



Ms. Floyd’s deposition testimordoes not suffice to create a dispute of material fact
though not for the reasoassertedby Rep. Jackson LeéMs. Floyd testified in her deposition
thather monocular vision “limits [her] reading speed.” Floyd Dep. at 15&:1ih.explaining
her reduced reading speeathe explained:[I'n general, if I'm in a group and we’re asked to read
certain things, | see that others are finished amdstill reading’ I1d. at 168:8—11. Additionally,
Ms. Floyd stated that when she undertakes “intensive reading for long periods,dhere’s
the stress that causes physical pain, headaches, [and] eye straifd. at 5015-17.

Relying onRumbin v. Association éfmerican Medical College803 F. Supp. 2d 83
(D. Conn. 2011)Rep. Jackson Lee contends that Ms. Floyd’s testimony fails to refeaepce
“objective measures” of the extent of her monocular vision. Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ.
16, 18. But nowhere do&mbinhold that “objective measures” anecessaryor establishing
disability. See Rumbir803 F. Supp. 2d at 94 (noting that the “only objective measures” of the
plaintiff's convergence insufficiency did not indicate substantial impairment of ability to see

learn, and regd?® Rather, theRumbincourtwas weighing evidence after a bench trial, not

life activity, recovered from the impairment, but nonetheless faced emplogisenmination
because of it.”).

Nor does Ms. Floyd allege that she was “regarded as” having an inepditinat
substantially limits her ability to read, under the third definition of “disabilig2 U.S.C.
§ 12102(1).“The purpose of ‘regarded as’ claims is to protect employees from mispensept
that often result from stereotypic assumptions not indicative of individual ability.” Gasser
v. District of Columbia442 F.3d 758, 763 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and
alterations omitted)In any event, individuals who aoaly “regarded as” having a disability are
not entitled to a reamable accommodation, in contrast to individuals who have either an actual
disability or a record of such disabilitfgee29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(g)(3), (0)(4).

28 See alsdrloyd Dep. at 159:8-(“The extent of the limitation is that . . . in terms of
reading, it takes me longer.”).

29 Contrary to Rep. Jackson Lee’s claim tRaimbinwas a “monocular vision case,”
Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 16, Rumbin claimed that he suffered from convergence
insufficiency, which “occurs when an individual tries to turn his eyes inwards,dewach



opining on the sufficiency of evidenaésummary judgmentSeeGirard v. Lincoln College of
New England27 F. Supp. 3d 289, 296 (D. Conn. 2014) (further notingRhatbindid not
“expressly conside]ithe findings and purposes of the ADAA"Moreover theEEOC
regulations expresslyrovide that “scientific, medical, or statistical analyssstinnecessary to
sustain a finding of disability. 29 C.F.R1630.2(j)(1)(v)3°

Ultimately, however,iie Caurt agreeswith Rep. Jackson LabatMs. Floyd’s deposition
testimony, sinding alonegdoes not suffice toreate a dispute of material fact. Her statements
about her reading speed could support a finding that her reading suffersofr@degreef
limitation, but hey are too vague to support a finding that any sogtation is “substantia]l].”
42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A)Nor can her statement about experiencing “physical pain, headaches,
[and] eye strain” after “intensive reading for long pds of time” support a finding afisability,
Floyd Dep. at 150:15-17, because Ms. Floyd offers no elaboration on the meaning of “long
periods,” or, relatedly, how her condition limits her ability to read “as companewst people

in the general population,” who might also suffer pain and discomfort after reamhtiguously,

other, resulting in difficulty in visually foging on close-in objectsRumbin 803 F. Supp. 2d at
86.

30 Like Rep. Jackson Lee, the Court is perplexed by Ms. Floyd’s claim in her apposit
that “[t}he combination oPlaintiff's monocular visiorand hyperopiaontribute [sic] to the
substantial limiations she faces in reading and seeing.” Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n 22 (emphasis added);
see alsdef.’s Reply 6 n.8 (discussing addition of hyperopia claim). Hyperopia, or
farsightedness, is nowhere mentioned in the amended complaint, which asserts thitbaghout
Ms. Floyd “suffers from the disability of monocular vision . . ..” Am. Compkeg also idat
12-13. Because Ms. Floyd may not amend her complaint through summary judgmerd,briefi
the Court does not consider any evidence of her hyperopia $egeBarrie 741 F. Supp. 2d at
263. Even if Ms. Floyd had amended her complaint, the ADA prottides[tjhe ameliorative
effects ofthe mitigating measures ofdinary eyeglasses or contésesshall be considereth
determining whether an impairmentbstantially limits a major life activity.22 U.S.C.

8§ 12102(4)(E)(ii) (emphasis addedge als®9 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(1)(vi) (same). Although Ms.
Floyd has attached to her opposition her contact lens prescriggieiPr,escription, Pl.’s EXx. 3,
ECFNo. 563, she makes no attempt to account for any “ameliorative effects” of her contact
lenses, as required by statute, 42 U.S.C. § 12102(4)(E)(ii).



29 C.F.R8 1630.2(j)(1)(ii);Singh v. George Wasbiniv. Sch. of Med. & Health Sci€08 F.3d
1097, 1102 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“[A] person who can walk for 10 miles continuouslyt is no
substantially limited in walking merely because, on the eleventh mile, he or she feeg
experience pain, because most people would not be able to walk eleven miles without
experiencing some discomfort.” (citation omittedf))What comes closest Ms. Floyd’s
depositionto establising a dispute of material fact herremarkthat whenever she reads in a
group, she “seels] that others are finished and [she is] still readthgyd Dep.at 168:8-11.
But this statement, too, falls short: Because siesdot explain how much longgn either
relative or absolute termshe needs to complete reading assignsyenjury could not find on
this basighat her reading ability is “substantially lifret].” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 12102(1)(A).

Rep. Jackson Ledaims that certain other evidenioeeclosesa finding thatMs. Floyd
had a disability, but this evidence is not dispositiFest, Rep. Jackson Lee points to Ms.
Floyd’'sresume, which listseveral instances ¢bast employment requiring substantiaswal
focus” Def.'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 19. But HBEOCregulationsspecifically instruct
courts not to focus on “what outcomes an individual can acliibeeause past successeight
reflect the individual’'s additional effort or mitigating meaessjrwhich cannot (except for glasses
or contactspe considered29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(4)(itisee also id§ 1630.2(j)(2(vi). Next,
Rep. Jackson Ledaims that on the “Preparer Use Form’hef 2011 tax returriMs. Floyd
reported under penalty of perjutlyatneither she nor anyone in her household hdidability.

SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 19-20 (discussing Preparer Use Form, Def.’s Ex. 28, ECF

31 AlthoughSinghwas decided under the pA®AA definition of “disability,” the
illustration quoted here is still valid because it is based on the “general populatigrdstthen
articulated by the Department of Justi@eeSingh 508 F.3d at 1102In fact, the illustration
appears verbatim in the EEOC’s interpretive guidance in the post-ADAA appertldex
regulations.See29 C.F.R. 81630.2(j)(4), App.



No. 53-7). Budefinitions of “disability” arecontextspecific andthe Qurt is told nothing
about the Internal Revenue Service’s definitiona$§ability.” Accordingly, Rep. Jackson Lee
has not carried her initial burden at summary judgment to demonstraliésthaioyd’s claim
that she was not disabled for purposes of her 2011 tax return forecloses athatsite is
disabled under the ADACT. Solomon v. Vilsa¢lk28 F.3d 555, 561-65 (D.C. Cir. 2010)
(holding that although employees who gearform the essential functions of their job with
reasonable accommodaticar®ineligible for Federal Employees’ Retirement System (“FERS”)
benefits, becausbe FERSapplicationdid not ask applicants whether they could dd~&RS
applicants are not “presumptively bartém bringing afailure-to-accommodate claim under
the Rehabilitation Actunder whichplaintiffs must be abléo perform the essential functions of
their job with reasonable accommodatigciing and discussin@leveland v. Policy Mgmt. Sys.
Corp., 526 U.S. 795 (1999)§2

What remainsthen, is Dr. Shultz’s 1998 diagnosis, recorded on the California bar
examination disability verification fornthat Ms. Floyd’smonocular vision “decreas|elgr

speed of reading between-BD percent.” Cal. bar exam form 3, Def.’s EX23f viewed in the

32 The Solomorcourt proceeded to a second factual inquiry: Although there is no
presumption that bars FERS applicants from asserting Rehabilitation Awscthe court asked
whether the employee, “[tlavoid summary judgment,” could “reconcile this apparent
discrepancy . . . ."Solomon 628 F.3d at 565. Here, this Court need not reach this inquiry
because Rep. Jackson Lee, by failing to explain the Internal RevenueeSateimition of
“disability,” has not presented any “apparent discrepancy” that Ms. Floyd would then have the
burden to “reconcile.”ld.

33 Ms. Floyd does not contend that the evidence of her having received accommodations
in the past is sufficient to create a dispute of material &l even if she did, the Court would
reject this argument. On account of her impainim Ms. Floyd requested and received
accommodations when taking the California bar examination in 1998, Floyd Dep. at 230:10-15,
when taking the Maryland bar examiretiin 2000jd. at 235:4—-20, and while studying for a
master’s degree beginning in 20@h,at 240:7-10; George Wash. Univ. letter of Sept. 19, 2005,
Def.’s Ex. 6, ECF No. 53-5. Past receipt of accommodations could indicate merely the
accommodating entits magnanimity, rather than the presence of an actual impairment that



light most favorable to Ms. Floyd, this diagnasigfices to create a dispute of material fact as to
whetherhermonocular vision substantially linsiher ability to read because the “duration of

time it takes [her] to perform the major life activityf readingwould, on averagdye 26-30

percent longer thatinatrequired by the general population for any given reading task. 29 C.F.R.
8§ 1630.2(j)(4)(i).

Rep. Jackson Lee offerdiany of reasons why Dr. Shultz’s diagnosis is too unreliable to
create a dispute of fadiut the Court rejects all of these argumeiRep. Jackson Lee first
contends thabecausehe form’ssecond of three pages is missiitgannot serve as competent
evidence SeeDef.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 1ske alsd-loyd Dep. at 162:14-21. But the
remainingpagessufficiently set forth Dr. Shultz’siltimateconclusion—thatMs. Floyd suffered
from monocular vision, whictecreased her reading speed by “betweel@percent.” Cal.
bar exam form 3, Def.’s Ex. IRep Jackson Lee next contends that Dr. Shultz’s conclusion
not supported by any “testing documentation.” Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. Jul@s B
explained above, “scientific, medical, or statistical analysis” is unnecdssastablishing a
disabilty. 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(j)(1)(v). Rep. Jackson Lee then poimtsitdernal
inconsistency in the diagnosis—Dr. Shultz’s equivocal conclusion diotmés first page that
Ms. Floyd’s impairmentmaybeimpacting [her] ability to read fast.Cal. bar &am form 1,

Def.’s Ex. 5(emphasis added@ee alsdef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 1While this slight

inconsistency might give a jury pause, it does not make the diagnosis pateriableficr

“substantially limits” a major life activity SeeSteffen v. Donaho&80 F.3d 738, 747 (7th Cir.
2012) (“The fact that [the plaintiff] previously received an accommodation . . . does not prove
that [the employer representative] believed that he suffered a substantial Invinadionajor life
activity.”). Lastly, the Court notes that while it is not entirely clear fronréigerd that Ms.

Floyd actuallyreceivedaccommodations on the 1998 California bar examination (beyond merely
requesting such accommodations), her deposition testimony implies that she dme, Godrt
assumes this to be so; in any case, this fact is immat&ealoyd Dep. at 230:10-15.



summary judgment purpose€f. Skelly v. Okaaloosaa Cnty. Bd. Of Cnty. Comdi$ F.
App’x 153 (11th Cir. 2011) (unpublished) (“[T]his is . . . not a case in which the plaintiff's
testimony is so fantastic or internallycomsistent that no reasonable jury could credit ¥.”).
Rep. Jackson Lefarthercontends that Ms. Floyd “was evaluated . . . in the context of a timed
test,not employment.” Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. T8is argument, too, must far.
Shultz opined on Ms. Floyd’'s ading speed as a general matted did not limit his conclusion
to “the context of a timed testld. Rep. Jackson Lee further suggests that Dr. Shultz’s
diagnosis is outdated, claiming that Ms. Floyd has no evidar@my testing or the need for
accommodation during the time of her employment as LegisIBireztor/Chief Counsel.”
Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 18. Biwgcausé®r. Shultz found that Ms. Floyd’s
impairment waspermanent,” his findings are sufficient to support a finding that her ability to
read was limited to the same degree in 2010 as it was in 1998 hebempleted the disability
verification form Cal. bar exam form 1, Def.’s Ex. 5.

Rep. Jackson Lee’s strongest challenge is@haShultz’'sassessment of Ms. Floyd’s
reduced reading speédes not specifwhetherhis baselings “mog people in the general
population,” as required by the EEOC regulatioBeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 17—
18;see als®9 C.F.R. 8 1630(®(2)(i)). Rep. Jackson Lee contends that Dr. Shultz’s ambiguous
finding could be read to mean tids. Floyd’s reading speed is 20 to 30 percent slower than
“people wihin her age group, students, he[r] [own reading speed] before she has read igtensivel

for several hours, dhe general populatioh Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 17 n.9.

34n fact, despite thisnconsistency, the administrators of the California and Maryland
bar exams and George Washington University all granted Ms. Floyd accononedat the
basis of Dr. Shultz’s diagnosi§eesupranote 33.



The Court disgrees. First, Dr. Shultz’'s assessmewas provided as the “[rleasons and
basis” for hissecommending that Ms. Floyd be allowed additional tomeertain sections of the
California bar examinatiea-specifically, 60 additional minutes on the performance test, and 45
additional minutes on the multiple choice secti@eeCal. bar exam form 3, Def.’s Ex. F.his
recommendation for additional tinpeovidescontextthatcould allow a reasonable jury to find
that the “baseline” for Dr. Shultz's assessment of Meyd’s reduced reading speed was in fact
the “general population.Further contextomesfrom Ms. Floyd’s testimony: She testified
herdeposition that when she met with Dr. Shultz, she explained her observatisinehat
generally read wre slowly than other peoplé&eeFloyd Dep. at 168:5-17. With this evidence,
a reasonable jury could find that Dr. Shultz compared Ms. Floyd’s reading spbatdbthe
“general population.” 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(j)(2)(ii).

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Dr. Shultz's 1998 diagnoaisd-this evidence
alone—ereatesa genuine dispute of materialctas to whether Ms. Floyd is an individual with a
disability, on account ofiaving a physical impairment that “substantially limits” her ability to

read. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A%

35 In reply, Rep. Jackson Lee asserts, for thefiimse, that Ms. Floyd’s medical evidence
is inadmissible hearsay. Specifically, Rep. Jackson Lee contends thatities$uscords
hearsay exception, Fed. R. Evid. 803(6), is inapplicable becaudisalhdity verificationform
has not been properly authenticated, and because Ms. Floyd’'s Rule 26(a) distdesuret list
any witness who can do so at trifeeDef.’s Reply 3 & n.3 (citing Pl.’s Rule 26(a)(1)
Statement, ECF No. 35). New arguments asserted in reply are generadlgl.v&eeWalker v.
Pharm. Research & Mfrs. of Apdl61 F. Supp. 2d 52, 58 n.9 (D.D.C. 2006). In any eveat,
Court need not address this evidentiary question because, even assuming thatolsesdsag
admissible and creates a dispute ofarat fact as to whether Ms. Floyd had a “disability” under
the ADA, summary judgment would still be appropriate for reasons given b8ewinfraPart
IV.B.3, B.4.



2. Notice

Rep. Jackson Lee next contends that summary judgment on the faibgesmmodate
claimis appropriate because there is no evidenceMbafloyd povided the office withany
medical documentation substantiating her claim of disabifgeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot.

Summ. J. 2322.

The EEOC regulations provide that “[tjo determine the appropriate reasonable
accommodatiop] it may be necessary for the covered entity to initiate an informal, interactive
process with the individual with a disability in need of the accommodation. This process shoul
identify the precise limitations resulting from the disability and potential rebkona
accommodations that could overcome those limitations.” 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(0)(3). Ithehort,
interactive process is a “flexible ghamdtake” allowing the employer and employtee
collaboratan “determin[ing]what accommodation would enable the employee to continue
working.” Ward v. McDonald762 F.3d 24, 32 (D.C. Cir. 201@&jtation omitted)

The employer’s duty to engage in the interactive process is “trigger[ediiicby
employee’s initial provision of notice of her disability and request for anwutation. Taylor v.
Phoenixville Sch. Dist184 F.3d 296, 312-15 (3d Cir. 1999)P]tecise notice” of the
employee’disability is unnecessaryCrandall v. Paralyzed Veterans of Arh46 F.3d 894, 898
(D.C. Cir. 1998) (finding notice insufficient to support faildceaccommodate and discredet
discrimination claims under Rehabilitation Act) (citation omitted). The employee oéed n
apprise the employer of “specifics,” such as her impairment’s name, disgmoseatmentSee
Taylor, 184 F.3d at 314. Moreover, “requests for reasonable accommodations do not need to be
in writing.” Id. at 313 (citation omitted)accordLee v. District of Columbigd20 F. Supp. 2d

127, 136 (D.D.C. 2013). Nor do such requests need to “invoke the magic words ‘reasonable



accommodation[.]” Taylor, 184 F.3d at 313. Rather, the individual need only provide an
“adequate, prior alert . . . of [her] disabled status” through either “actual orwcing” means.
Crandall, 146 F.3d at 898 Propemoticemust simplyenable the employer to “know of both
the disability and the employee’s desire for accommodatiortbdbdisability.” Taylor, 184
F.3d at 313accord Lee920 F. Supp. 2d at 135-136.

“An individual seeking accommodation need not provide medical evidence of her
condition in every case . . . [.fWard 762 F.3d at 31. “But when the need for an
accommodation is not obvious, an employer, before providing a reasonable accommundstion,
requirethat the individual with a disability provide documentation of the need for
accommodation.”ld. (internalquotation marks, alterations, and citatamitted) (emphasis
added). That is,“[o]nce the employer knows of the disability and the employee’s desire for
accommodations, it makes sense to place the burden on the employer to request additional
information thathe employer belies it needséas part of the interactive procesgaylor, 184
F.3d at 315accord Lee920 F. Supp. 2d at 136. This burdenognizeshat disabled
employees “may have good reasons for not wanting to reveal unnecesgamyiyletail of their
medical reords because much of the information may be irrelevant to idextiéynd justifying

accommodations, could be embarrassing, and might actually exacerbateas®ejudice.”

36 Ms. Floyd does not contend that Rep. Jackson Lee had constructive notice of her
disability, and even if she had, the Court would conclude that the evidence cannot estdblish tha
Ms. Floyd had any physical trait that was “so obviously a manifestation of arlyamger
disability that it would be reasonable to infer that [Rep. Jackson caellly knew of the
disability.” Crandall, 146 F.3d at 898 (internal quotation marks, alterations, and citation
omitted). SeeFloyd Dep. at 159:21-25 (“[I]f [someone looking at me] has knowledge of what
monocular vision is . . . and they look at me withmy glasses, they might be able to tell that |
have monocular vision.”jd. at 160:12—22 (testifying that at work, she wore glasses and
“contacts sometimes,” and that with contacts, “you could tell that my eyer'teigether
sometimes”)see alsdef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 22 n.13 (arguing that Ms. Floyd’s
impairment was not “obvious” enough to support finding of constructive notice).



Taylor, 184 F.3d at 315. Of course, if the employer, after receiving thal indticeof

disability, makes a reasonable request for further documentation substantiatingliigydisa
need for accommodation, then the employee must respond appropr&gelard 762 F.3cht
34-35 (holding that, where employee failed to provide documentation requested bysgmploy
evidence could not support finding that employer refused an accommop&temart v. St.
Elizabeths Hosp589 F.3d 1305, 1308-309 (D.C. Cir. 201€9r(e.

Here, the evidence could support a finding that Ms. Floyd provided adequate nbgce to
employer If the Court credits her testimony, as it must at summary judgment, her cdioreysa
with Mr. Buck, Mr. Thomas, and Rep. Jackson Lee each enabled the Representatoeets offi
“know of both the disability and [her] desire for accommodations for that disabiliigylor,

184 F.3d at 313Ms. Floyd testified that when she was consideringirdng the office as
Legislative Director and Chief Counsel, she told Mr. Buck of her “visionditom” and “the
fact that it takes [her] longer to read.” Floyd Dep. at 10A4..6She also claims thahe told Mr.
Buck that in light of her condition, she could accept the job only on specific conditions that
would help her manage her workloa8ee idat 103:12—223" Later, when the Representative
instructed Ms. Floyd not tdelegate certain tasks, Mdoyd mentionecher “vision disability,”
her inability to use one eye, and her need for “more time” to complete thddaak130:8-18.

Additionally, Ms. Floyd testified that she informed Mr. Thomas of her monoculamyisee id.

37 Mr. Buck denies having been informed of Ms. Floyd's disabilgeBuck Dep. at
19:9-15. But in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, this Court must view the evidence in
the light most favorable to Ms. Floyd and refrain from making credibility detations. See
Czekalski475 F.3d at 363.



at 145:8-146:9, and followed up with him on multiple occasions about the possibility of
receiving an accommodatiosee idat 147:1138

This Court declines toequire moréprecise noticethan that provided bys. Floyd
SeeCrandall, 146 F.3d at 898. None of Ms. Floyd’s communications with Mr. Buck, Mr.
Thomas, or Rep. Jackson Lee provided her impairment’s name, diagnosis, or treatnseict) but
detail is not required of an employee’s initial notiGeeTaylor, 184 F.3d at 314ee alsoNard
762 F.3d at 31Likewise,Ms. Floyd's failures tosubmit “in writing” any notice of disabilitand
to “invoke the magic words ‘reasonable accommodatiare not fatal to her claimTaylor, 184
F.3dat 3133 Lastly, and most relevant to Rep. Jackson Lee’s submisshenct hat medical
documentation did not accompany Ms. Floyd’s initial requests for accommodation cannot
preclude dinding that her notice sufficed to trigger Rep. Jackson Lee’s duty to engage in the
interactive processSeeTaylor, 184 F.3d at 313, 315.

Rep. &ckson Leghowever, invokeslemmings v. Howard Universitg98 F.3d 857
(D.C. Cir. 1999), for the proposition that an employer has no obligation to provide any

accommodation where “medical documentation” does not accompany the initialafotice

38 Rep. Jackson Lee additionally contends that certain communications in #G06—
Congressional Black Caucus Foundation memorandum to the office concerning M Floy
disability and Ms. Floyd’s discussions with Mr. Berry—cannot function as adequate, not
given that Ms. Floyd was not an employee during her time atowfehat the office never
received any medical records, that two years then passed before Mswhkyehired as
Legislative Director and Chief Counsel, and that her new position had “suldbtatitiarent
responsibilities” from her prior postSeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 21-22. In her
opposition, Ms. Floyd points to evidenseggestindhatstaffers’knowledge of her disability
was conveyed to Rep. Jackson Lee in 2006 and, subsequently, to successor StRirs.
Mem. Opp’n 17-18. Because the Court does not rely on these earlier communications, it need
not address these arguments.

39 Because there is no “magic words” requirement, the Court finds unhelpful Rep.
Jackson Lee’s attention to the facts that Ms. Floyd “did not use the word ‘accorianoidat
any of [her] conversations” with Mr. Buck, Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 9, in hértema
Rep. Jackson Led. at 11, or in her discussions with Mr. Thomiasat 22.



disability and request for accommodatioDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 21 (citing
Flemmings 198 F.3d at 861)In that caseduring the‘relevant time period,” Flemmings made
only one request for accommodation from her employer Howard Univeraityedical leave of
absence supported by a doctor’s note, which her employer “readily graftechinings 198
F.3d at 861-62. Prior to this period, Flemmings’s requests for a modified work schedule had not
been “substantiated” Bynedical documentation.’ld. at858, 861-62. Accordingly, the court
rendered judgment for Howard on Flemmings’s failicr@ccommodate claim, holding that
“there was no date for which Flemmings has offered evidence substantiating both a
accommodatable disability and a denial of accommoualAtitm. at 85840

This Court recognizes a potentiahsion betweeron the one handlemmingsand on
the other hand, the D.C. Circuit’s prior decisiorCirandall, which rejects a requirement that the
notice be “precise,andits more recehdecisions 6WardandStewart which reason that
employees need not submedical recordsinless subsequently requesitethe interactive
process This Court will follow Crandall, Ward, andStewart which have neither been
withdrawn by thos@anes$ nor overruled by the court of appeals siteéngoangsee Cobell v.
Salazar 816 F. Supp. 2d 10, 15 (D.D.C. 2011) (citBrgwster v. C.1.R607 F.2d 1369, 1373
(D.C. Cir. 1979) (per curiam)), and whose reasoning finds broad support among other
authorities seeAllenv. Pac. Bell 348 F.3d 1113, 1115 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding thkaere an

employedfailed to poduce‘requested’medical documentatigtheemployer had no duty to

40 Rep. Jackson Lee relies Bieasley v. D.C. Gen. Hosf.80 F. Supp. 2d 158 (D.D.C.
2002),andBramwell v. BlakeyNo. 04-927, 2006 WL 1442655 (D.D.C. May 24, 2006), for the
proposition that an individual seeking a reasonable accommodation has the “burden of
establishing with medical evidence the existence of theealldgsability, and presenting the
documentation during the term of employment, not following terminatibleasley 180 F.

Supp. 2dat 167 (internal quotation marks acithtion omitted)see alsdef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot.
Summ. J. 21. But the Court is not persuaded by these cases because tredy ingtlart on
Flemmingswhich this Court declines to follow, as explained above.



engage in “further interactive processes” with respect to the spaotitianmodation sought, but
still had a duty to engage in the interactive process “to consider whethegraatale
accommodation . . . would be possible3ard v. U.S. Dep’t of Educ691 F. Supp. 2d 93, 100
(D.D.C. 2010)*“An employee seeking an accommodation for a disglniiist comply withan
employer’'sreasonable request fonedical documentatioh(emphasis added)aff'd, No. 11-
5020, 2011 WL 2148585 (D.C. Cir. May 25, 201Rplicy Guidance on Executive Order 13164:
Establshing Procedures to Facilitate the ProvisibReasonable Accommodatioh000 WL
33407185, at *106!

The Court therefore concludes thagemuine dispute of material fastistsas to whether
Ms. Floyd provided adequate notice of her disability and requested a reasacabten@dation.

3. Qualified Individual

Rep. Jackson Lee argues ttiat summary judgment recocdmot support a findinghat
Ms. Floyd is a “qualified individual” for purposes ofrtfailure-to-accommodate claimthat is,
that she could perform her essential job functiwitk reasonble accommodationSee Breen v.
Dep't of Transp.282 F.3d 839, 841 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (“[A]n individual with a disability is
‘qualified’ if he or she can perform the essential functions of the position wihsanable
accommodation.”)Solomon 763 F.3dat 9;Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 23-27.

Preliminarily, the Court notes that it need not decide whether the record could support a

finding that Ms. Floyd could perform her essential dutéhoutreasonable accommodation.

41 This Policy Guidance helps federal agencies implement the Rehabilitatien Act’
mandate to provide reasonable accommodation to their employees: “[W]hen atgiaalilor
need for accommodation is not obvious, the agemay, if it chooses, requit@at the individual
provide reasonable documentation about the disability and his/her functionaidinsitat . he
agency is notequiredto request documeation in such cases; the agerscgrocedures should,
however, explain that failure to provide necessary documentatiere it has been properly
requestedtould result in a denial of reasonable accommodé&tiBolicy Guidance on Executive
Order 13164, 2000 WL 33407185, at *10 (emphasis added).



To be sure, the ADA defines “qualified individual” as one who can perform her etseiigs
“with or withoutreasonable accommodatior2 U.S.C. § 12111(8) (emphasis adddfia
disabledemployee “can perform [her essential] functi@nthoutreasonable accommodation, so
muchthe better—she is, of course, still qualified.Carr v. Reng23 F.3d 525, 529 (D.C. Cir.
1994) see also Solomoi763 F.3d at 9At summary judgment, however, Ms. Floyd argues only
that she could fulfill her essential dutwwgh a reasonable accommodation, wathoutsuch
acommodationthe Court’s inquiry is accordingly limited teerargument.SeePl's Mem.
Opp’n 26-28, ECF No. 5&f. Carr, 23 F.3d at 529 (explaining that because the plaintiff
“concedes that without some form of accommodation she cannot perform the essertielsunc
of her job,” the court need only “ask simply whether any reasonable accommodation would have
allowed [the plaintiff] to perform all the essential functions of her jéb”).

If an individual with a disability cannot perform the “essential functions” ofdteeven
with reasonablaccommodation, then the employer has no duty to provide such accommodation.
SeeCarr, 23 F.3dat 529-30(affirming grant of summary judgment to employer where
individual required to meet daily 4:00 PM document-processing deadline sought flexible
working hours as accommodationjhe EEOC regulations define “essential functions” as “the
fundamental job duties of the employment position the individual with a disability wolds
desires’ 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(n)(1)What constitutes “essential functions” in a particular case is
a “gquestion of fact.”Floyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at 32Citing Brumbalough v. Camelot Care Ctrs.,

Inc., 427 F.3d 996, 1005 (6th Cir. 2005pmployers ejoy “substantial deference” in defining

42 The evidence suggests that Ms. Floyd at least subjectetiBvedthat she could not
perform her essential duties without accommodation, given her requests for workloettbres
and ultimate resignation. On the other hand, the record is silent as to the ofSessa@nt of
Ms. Floyd’s ability to perform her essential duties, and there is no evidende#uaches or
eyestrain caused by failing to take breaksmyumtensivereading resulted in a decline in
performance.



essential functiondvicNair v. District of Columbiall F. Supp. 3d 10, 15 (D.D.C. 2014),
becausevidence of such functions can include the “employer’s judgment,” “[w]ritten job
descriptions prepared before advertising or interviewing applicants for thetjeb,”
“consequences of not requiring the incumbent to perform the funcéiod,thé'work
expeience of past incumbents in the job,” 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(n)(3).

Ms. Floyd initiallyrequested of Mr. Buck th&te office hire an additional Legislative
Assistant and thathe be relieved gdrimary responsibility forssue areas assigned to other
staffels andfor events occurring in HoustorSeeFloyd Dep.at 107:18-110:16, 112:14-117:15.
In her motion, Rep. Jackson Lee contends that the evidence cannot show that tteel@mexis
“accommodationthaf would have enabled her to perform the essential functions of the job.”
SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 26-27.

The Court agrees with Rep. Jackson Lee thatdhan additional Legislative Assistant to
help Ms. Floyd complete her work would roanstitutea “reasonableaccommodation.See
Peters v. Qy of Mauston311 F.3d 835, 845 (7th Cir. 2002) (finding “unreasonable” an
accommodation that would “requir[e] another person to perform an essential functiba” of
disabled employee’s jopMHatchett v. Philander Smith CqlR51 F.3d 670, 675 (8th Cir. 2001)
(“[Aln employer is not required to hire additional employees or assign thdsethed the
employee could not perform to other employee®8tton v. Dobson Ass'i13 F.3d 1242,

1997 WL 218587, at *1 (9th Cir. 1997) (unpublishé®estructuring an existing job can be a
reasonable accommodation under the ADA, but an employer is not required to hire additional

employees or make fundamental modifications in its operations.” (internal citatitted));see



also29 C.F.R. 81630.2(0), App. (explaining that an employer is not required to hire an “assistant
. . . [to] perfor[m] the job for the individual with a disability*j.

As for Ms. Floyd’s other initial requesthere is at best a very weak dispute of &scto
whether the requestdentified reasonable accommodations that would have enabled her to
perform her essential dutiebs. Floyd seems to admit thidbustondistrict-related duties were
essential, based on her testimony regartiglegislative”’duties ofpast LegislativDirectors,
seeFloyd Dep.at85:19-21, and the inclusion of such duties in her job descrigg@uties
and Responsibilities, Def.’s Ex. 15, ECF No. 53-5; Floyd Dep. at 75:17—77:23. In suppert of
judgment that work related to Houston events waessentiglshe has profferedo documents,
seeFloyd Dep. at 117:16-18, but only vague references in her deposition to her understanding of
the “scope of the position,” “priorities in the office,” and “pastagtices of the office,id. at
116:16-117:15see also Greend 64 F.3d at 675 (explaining that “conclusory” assertion in
affidavit did not establish a genuine issue for trial). Whether delegaticertainlegislative
work would have precluded her from performing her essential duties is a sonckygkat
guestion. On the one hartde Legislative Director job description expressly mentions the
authority to delegate and assign wofkeeDuties andResponsibilities, Def.’s Ex. 15 (providing
that Legislative Assistants may handle legislative worka&sgned by” the Legislative

Director) On the other hand, Ms. Floyd conceded in her deposition that Rep. Jackson Lee at

43 Other courts have treated the hiring of an additional employee as an undue hardship,
but Rep. Jackson Lee does not assert this def&@ews.e.gMulloy v. Acushnet Cp460 F.3d
141, 146 (1st Cir. 2006). There is, however, “much overlap” and “interrelat[ion]” between the
inquiries into a “reasonable” accommodation and “undue hardskBROCv. Firestone Fibers
& Textiles Co, 515 F.3d 307, 314 (4th Cir. 2008).



times asked expressly for specific work to be completed by Mr. Berry whesmed as
Legislative Director SeeFloyd Dep. at 84:9-22.

In any event, the Court need not decide whether these accommodations could enable Ms.
Floyd to perform her essential dutlescause she has concedtleat they could not. In her
opposition, Ms. Floye&mphasizethat her initial requests ®fir. Buck—for the additional
Legislative Assistant, the authority to delegate legislative work, and nelrefHoustorrelated
assignments-weremerely“requestgor accommodatiorisand acknowledgethat“[a]n
employer isnot obligated to provide an employee with &xact accommodation(s) requested.”
Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n 27. In light of Ms. Floyd'’s failure to respotite Court will deem conceded
Rep. Jacksohe€es argument thathese particulanccommodations would have excused her
from performing essential job dutieSeeHopkins v. Women'’s Div., Gen. Bd. of Global
Ministries 284 F. Supp. 2d 15, 25 (D.D.C. 2003) (“[W]hen a plaintiff files an opposition to a
dispositive motion and addresses only certain arguments raised by the defendant, aycourt m
treat those argumés that the plaintiffdiled to address as conceded.”).

Instead, in her oppositioMs. Floyd advances three arguments as to why she was a
qualified individual. The Court, however, finds each argument to be meridess.Ms. Floyd
contends thaat summary judgment, Rep. Jackson Lee is precluded from arguing that she was
not a qualified individual “because no one from the Office ever engaged with Paintif
determine what an effective yet reasonable accommodation might be.” Biis@pp’n 26.

But the Court’s previous opinian this case squarehgjected this position as a matter of law:
Because there is no independent liability for failure to engage in the interamcessat
summary judgmentyls. Floyd must proffer evidence that she was a qualified individual, as the

ADA'’s textrequires—i.e., that she could have performed her essential duties with a reasonable



accommodation Floyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at 327 (“Ms. Floyd will not be able to prevail on her
failure to accommodate claim merdly showing (as she argues here) that the Representative
refused to discuss potential accommodations . ;. sef alsal2 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A)
(imposing liability for denial of accommodation to “qualified individual with a disab)lify}

Ms. Floyd aso claims that, after her resignati®ep. Jackson Lee’s willingness to
discuss accommodations and to bring her back to work shows that she was a qualifiddahdivi
Seelacksorliee Dep. at 101:810; Pl.’'s Mem. Opp’n 28 (“Defendant’s argument thatriRiii
was not qualified to perform the essential functions of her position . . . is completely
incompatible with its stated efforts to retain her in the position.”). Ban #mployer’snterest
in negotiating withor retaininga disabled employemuldestablish “qualified individual” status
employers would be loath teegotiate at alfor fear of foreclosin@ potential defenseyven
where the employee could natfactperform her essential job functions with any reasonable
accommodationCf. Fed. R.Evid. 40&a)(2) (rendering inadmissible for purposes of proving a
claim any “conduct or a statement made during compromise negotiabonsthe clairf). To

avoid undermining the interactive process, the Court concludes that evidence afdRspnJ

44 The D.C. Circuit, like other courts of appeals, has not recognized an independent cause
of action for failure to engage in the interactive process in the absence@fiavihat the
plaintiff was a “qualified individual.”SeeJohn R. Autry, Reasonable Accommodation Under the
ADA: Are Employers Required to Patrticipate in the Interactive Process? Ths Sayr‘Yes”
But the Law Says “No,” 79 Chi.-Kent L. Rev. 665, 687—-89 (2004) (explaining that there is no
standalone liability for failure to participate in the interactive processuseceven where courts
of appeals have foreclosed summary judgment for an employer’s failpagticipate in the
interactive process, the courts have still required a showing of “qualifieddodl” status); 1
Barbara T. Lindemann, Paul Grossman & @ofirey Weirich, Enployment Discrimination
Law 13164-13-165 (5th ed. 2012) (“Although most courts hold that an employer’s failure to
engage in the interactive process is not an independent legal violation, it may beewida
failure to accommodate(reviewing cases in accompanying footnotes)).



Lee’s interest in negotiating with Ms. Floyd cannot suffice to establish thataha qualified
individual *
Ms. Floyd’s final arguments that $1e could have performed her essential job functions

with the reasonablaccommodation of “takingest breaks SeePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 27.
Although Ms. Floyd does not elaborate, the Court assume§dlstabreaks” referso the ten
minute rest breakihiatshe took for every three hours of intensive reading when she previously
worked in the office.SeeFloyd Dep.at 64:420, 65:3-6. The Court, howeverteading Ms.
Floyd's opposition together with her deposition testimony, understhatis practice, this
requested accommodationnsists not ofest breakslone, but aeduction in workloadhat
would enablethosebreaks SeeDef.’s Reply 12 (explaining that ten-minute rest break is “not the
same thing as” reduced workloadabling rest breaks). Indedds. Floydconceded as much
her deposition:

[W]hat would allow for me to actually take breaks is iftals

work from the district, from the fact that we’re understaffed, from

the fact that I'm getting issues where other staffers were assigned,

that’'s where—that’'s what prevents the breaks from happening, is

the additional work.
Floyd Dep. at 138:2—9Accordingly, Ms. Floyd'sown testimony establishes thathoughshe
hadthe actuahbility to take rest breaksee infraPart IV.B.4,shecould not do savithout relief
from certain‘additional work.” And, crucially,this “additional” work is precisely whashe has
now conceded was essentialher role, as explained above. Nor can Ms. Floyd reMion
Berry’s vague testimony that he “take[s] breaks” as evidence thabsheould have takeamest

breaks while fulfilling her essential dutieBerry Dep.at 156:10-11see alsd’l.’s Mem. Opp’n

27 n.3. Mr. Berry’s testimony did not specify the frequency or length of his breaks, and Ms

45 Cf. supranote 33 (explaining that past receipt of voluntary accommodations, standing
alone, does not establish that an individual has a “disability” under the ADA).



Floyd needs ten minutes of rest for every three hours of intensive re&dieg.if Mr. Berry’s

rest breaks werakin to what Ms. Floyd needed, pointing to his ability to take breaks gets her
nowherebecause she has testified thatWwerkload rather than any office policy or practice,
preventecherfrom takingbreaks See infraPart IV.B.4 (explaining that Ms. Floyd, likdr.

Berry, had authority to take rest breaks). In sum, Ms. Floyd cannot in her oppositaame her
requests to be relieved of essential duties as a request for the mere ability éstthkeaks,

when undisputed evidence shows that she couldana taka breakswithoutalsoobtaining

relief fromheressential dutie®’

As this Court noted in its prior opinion, one basis for granting summary judgment would
be undisputed record evidence that “working longer and harder than [Ms. Floyd] was ddle
was an essential function” of her roleloyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at 3271 he record reveals
precisely such evidence: Thaly accommodations that Ms. Floyd has identified would have
reducedher workload, and sheoncedeghat these reductions would haetieved her of
essential functions. Accordingly, a reasonable jury could nothiaidMs. Floydcouldperform
her essential dutiessen with the benefit of a reasonable accommodagiotishe has failed to

create ayenuine dispute of fact as to whetBbBewas a “qualified individual.”

46 To be sure, Ms. Floyd is not bound in litigation by an initial (or any prior) request for
reasonable accommodatiofhe test, rather, is whether Ms. Floyd could perform the essential
functions of the Legislative Director and Chief Counsel rolgH' . . .reasonable
accommodation”; a plaintiff need not identify a specific reasonable accommodédison
making initial requests of her employe3olomon 763 F.3d at See alsdNoodruff v. Peters
482 F.3d 521, 527 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“[W]e must ask simplytveeanyreasonable
accommodation would have allowed [the plaintiff] to perform all the essentidaldoa®f [his]
job without creating an undue hardship for the agency.” (internal quotation marksagiod ci
omitted) (emphasis added)). Nonetheless, in litigation, Ms. Floyd must proffeneei that
there existed some reasonable accommodation that would have made her a “qualified
individual,” and based on the summary judgment record, the Court here concludes that rest
breaks alone, without relief from essential duties, would not have sufficed asabatable
accommodation.



4. Refusal to Provide Accommodation

Even assumingrguendahattakingten-minute rest breaks for every three hours of
intensive readings actually what Ms. Floyd now contends would have been a reasonable
accommodation, and that these breaks would havefolrcompatible withher essential
duties, thus rendering her a “qualified individual,” the Court concludes that the eviemmos
support a finding that Ms. Floyd waserdeniedthis accommodatianSeeDef.’s Mem. Supp.
Mot. Summ. J. 287 As Rep. Jackson Lee explains, the undisputed evidence showsthat
Floyd “could have taken breaks whenever she felt it was negesdaef.’s Reply13.

As a factual matter, the summary judgment record, even viewed in the light most
favorable to Ms. Floyd, could not support a finding that the offex@ed her teiminute rest
breaks.See Andersqrl77 U.S. at 255. Two portions of Ms. Floyd’s deposition testinconye
close, but ultimatelyall short ofestablishingsuch a denial.

First, Ms. Floyd testified thain April 26, 2010, when she first directly informed Rep.
Jackson Lee of her monocular vision and sotllelegate certain work to a Legislative
Assistant Ms. Floyd mentioned her need for “time to take a break.” Floyd Dep. at 130:17-18.
In response, by Ms. Floyd’s account, Rep. Jackson Lee told her that she could nt¢ detega
assignment, and that she should not take “take ten years to get it ¢threg.130:19-23.
Apparently, Ms. Floyd construed the “ten years” comment to be a blanket prohibitiakiro t
any rest breaksld. at 139:22-2%8 At summary judgment, “ajustifiableinferences areotbe

drawn” in Ms. Floyd’s favorAnderson477 U.S. at 25%emphasis addedputthe inferencehat

47 Although this argument is partially located in Rep. Jackson Lee’s discussion of
whether Ms. Floyd was a “qualified individual,” the Court will address it in #dsi@en givents
relevance.SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 26.

8 On this point, the excerpt of Ms. Floyd’s deposition ends mid-sentence, but the Court
infers Ms. Floyd’s contention from the continuing discussion one page later abowrtlyedrs”
comments.SeeFloyd Dep. at 141.



Rep. Jackson Lee’s instruction not to take “ten years” on an assignment amounted to
prohibition ontenrminuterest breakss not justifiable*

Second, Ms. Floytkstifiedthateven if she hagermission to take rest breaks, constant
assignmentand requestsom Rep. Jackson Lee forced her to read and write “continuofasly”
longer than three hours at a tinteerebydepriving her ofest breaksis a pactical matter
Floyd Dep.at 136:2-139:18. Althougthis testimonycould support a finding that Ms. Floyd
had to manage significantworkload,once againit camot support a findinghatthe office
preventecherfrom takingtenrminuterestbreaks Ms. Floyd proffers no evidence that when
Rep. Jackson Lee gave her new assignmehésinstructed her not to take rest breaks.
Moreover, thearties danot dispute that there was “gate at the doon‘egulatingemployee
breaks.Seelackson Lee Dep. @&2:8;see alsad. at 73:1-2 (“[N]Jo one would block anyone
from taking breaks.”)Nor was the Representative personpligventing rest breaks; to the
contrary, she spent a significant amount of timkeaaringson the House floor, and in her
district. Seelackson Lee Dep. at 133:4-12 (legislative sessions on House Bear) Dep. at
73:2—-4 (committee hearings); Floyd Dep. at 1383¢ime in district) Moreover, Ms. Floyd
does not dispute evidence tha¢ tturrent Legislative Direat and Chief Counsel, Mr. Berry,
regularly takes breakseeBerry Dep. at 158-157:3,°° and her testimony that she regularly
took breaks in her prior positions is further evidence that the heavier workload efiséative

Director and Chief Counsel was what prevented her from taking breaks, not a ichaffige

49 The Court reaches the same conclusion with respect to all of the “many times” in
which Rep. Jackson Lee told Ms. Floyd not to take “ten years” on various newnassig,
according to the latter’s deposition testimoi8eeFloyd Dep. at 171:19-172:16.

50 Rather than dispute evidence of Mr. Berry’s rest breaks, Ms. Floyd citewvitisce
for the inference that she was a “qualified individual” because she, too, could havetedmpl
her essential duties with teninute rest breaks feevery three hours of intensive reading. As
explained above, however, the Court rejects this infereBee.suprdart IV.B.3.



policy, seeFloyd Dep. at 64:4—20, 65:3—&astly, there is no evidence that deadlifees
assignments requiring intensive readimgre so aggressive that a-t@mute break would have
made the difference betwetmely and tardy completig even twelve hoursf continuous,
intersive readindwhich Ms. Floyd does not allege that she regularly needed to do) would
translatento merelyforty minutes of rest breaksSeeFloyd Dep. at 136:11-15, 137:20-22,
139:8-18 (explaining that she often needed to read continuously for more than three hours
without resting).Once again, the inference that Ms. Floyd was denied the ability to take ten
minute rest breaks for every three hours of intensive reading is not “justifigkiderson477
U.S. at 255.

In her opposition, howevek]s. Floydeschews factual argumentsistead echoing her
argument thashe must be presumed a qualified individatasdummary judgmenshe seems to
contendthatas a matter of lavihe office’s failure to participate in the interactive process
constitutes @onstructivedenial of rest breaksln her viewher employer “can be held liable
under the ADA not only for denyinder] the requested accommodations, fontfailing to
engage in the interactive process altogether . . ..” Pl.’'s Mem. Opp’n 2B428he cannot
assert a constructive denwahere, as a factual matter, she had ready authorigkéorest breaks

as necessary} See Helvering v. Stockholms Enskilda B&€3 U.S. 84, 92 (1934) (“[L]egal

1 To be sure, the Court has already found that Ms. Floyd’s notice was adequate tto trigge
the office’s “duty” to participate in the interactive proceSge suprdart IV.B.2. But the
Court’s notice analysis is founded on the premise that the requested accommodation is not
already available (as any “noticahalysis must imply) Cf. Ward 762 F.3d at 3{[A]n
employer needs information about the nature of the individual’s disability anieésired
accommodation.” (emphasis added)). Rep. Jackson Lee had a duty to interact withyMasFI
to the initial requests to hire a Legislative Assistant and reduce hewoadyikdut Ms. Floyd now
concedes that those requests were unreasonable, and there is no independerdaarséoof
failure to interact.Seesupranote 44. With respect, however, to rest breaks standing alone
(assumedrguendain this section to be a reasonable accommodation for “qualified individual”
status), the Court concludes that Rep. Jackson Leedddtyto interact at all, given that rest



fictions have an appropriate place in the administration of the law when the@ganed by the
demands of convenience and justiceP@ttibone Corp. v. Easle935 F.2d 120, 123 (7th Cir.
1991) (“Even legkfictions have their limits.”).And to the extent that Ms. Floyd contends that a
failure to participate in the interactive processmdependently actionable under the ADA, she
would be mistakenSee supraote 44. In shorsummary judgmergvidence that disabled
employee had ready access to a requested reasonable accommodation prezhsdeslale jury
from finding that the employer deniglat particulamccommodation.
* * *

At bottom, Ms. Floyd’s problem was not an inability to téd&eminute resbreaks, but
an inability to manage the demanding workload of her new role as Legdlatector and Chief
Counsel. Because a reasonable jury could not conclude from the summary judgment recor
eitherthat Ms. Floyd was a qualified individual or that stes denied the reasonable
accommodation of takinggn-minute rest breaks for every three hours of intensive reatiiag, t
CourtgrantsRep. Jackson Lee’s motion for summary judgment as to the fathaecommodate
claim.

C. Hostile Work Environment
The amended complaint alleghatRep. Jackson Lee’s “continual refusal to engage in a

discussion to determine a reasonable accommodatiorffragdient humiliating and derogatory

breaks were already available to Ms. Flo&f. Ward 762 F.3d at 32 (explaining that, in case
where plaintiffdid not have acceds the requested accommodation, “to establish that her
request [for accommodation] was ‘denied,’ [the plaintiff] must show either thatigfendant]
in fact ended the interactive process or that it participatéte process in bad faith'§ge also
Autry, Reasonable Accommodation Under the ADA, at 690 (“The key to liability, théme i
defendant’s failure to implement one of the available appropriate accommodaditths,
failure to interact with the plaintiff.” (reviewing casesy); at 691 (“There is, then, no situation
(and no circuit) in which an employerrisquiredby law to engage in the interactive process.
Liability attaches under the ADA if the employer fails to reasonably actmate the
limitations of an employee’s disability.”).



comments about her disability” amounted to a hostile work environment, in violation of the
Congressional Accountability Act. Am. Compl. 30In her motion for summary judgment,
Rep. Jackson Lee argues that the evidence at most shows that Ms. Flenatigthi
“tribulations of a fast-paced, demanding congressional workplace,” not a hostide
environment actionable as harassment affecting a term, condition, orgeigfl@er
employment. Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 30. For the reasons given below, the Court
agrees?

As incorporated by the Congressional Accountability ActAD& provides that “[n]o
covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified individual on the basisabfliysin regard
to job application procedures, the hiring, advancement, or discharge of employgegeem
compensation, job training, ather terms, conditions, amivileges of employmefit 42
U.S.C. § 1211() (emphasis added)Because the Supreme Court has held that similar language

in Title VIl establishes a cause of action for hostile work environment maeasscourts have

52 |n its enumerated causes of action, the amended comfjolairally asserts only a
retaliatory hostile work environment claim, rather than a standalone hostile work environment
claim. But the Office addressedi@ndalone claim in its prior motion to dismiss, and because
Ms. Floyd filed her amended complaint while proceegir@mse this Court construed her
pleading liberally to assert such a claim and concluded that it survived Rep. Jag&son L
previous motion to dismissSeeMem. Supp. Def.’s Mot. Dismiss 46-56, ECF No. 2Flbyd,

968 F. Supp. 2d at 328-30.

53 Rep. Jackson Lee argues thadternatively, Ms. Floyd is not disabled under the ADA.
Because the Court has already concluded to the contrary, it need not address ot nses
here. See supr#art IV.B.1.

In reply, Rep. Jackson Lee also contends that Ms. Floyd has concetsshthaary
judgment is proper on her work environment claim given her failure to respond in her opposition
to arguments made in the motion for summary judgmg&eeDef.’s Reply 14 see alsdHopking
284 F. Supp. 2dt25. Ms. Floyd has not conceded Rep. Jackson Lee’s arguments; she contends
that there are genuine disputes of fact concerning her “claim of a hostkeemvironment on
the basis of her disability.SeePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 20. The Court recognizes, however, that Ms.
Floyd’s decision to present this discussion in a prefatory section entitled f@dbisputes of
Material Fact Not Addressed by Defendant,” rather than in the body of her atyisne
confusing.



held that a hostile work environment claim is also cognizable under the SBée.g, Lanman
v. Johnson Cnty., Kansa393 F.3d 1151, 1155-56 (10th Cir. 2008haver v. Indep. Stave Co.
350 F.3d 716, 719-20 (8th Cir. 200B)pwers v. S. RegPhysician Servsinc., 247 F.3d 229,
232-35 (5th Cir. 2001)A plaintiff asserting a hostile work environment claimderthe ADA
must establish thesgements of a prima factase “(1) she is disabled or is perceived as
disabled; (2) she was subjected to unwelcome harassfgtite harassment occurred because
of her disability or thgerception that she was disabled; (4) the harassment affetded,
condition, or privilege of employment; and (5) there is a basis for holding the emiuddyerfor
the creation of the hostile work enviment? Floyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at 328itations omitted)
To establish that the harassment “affected a term, condutignivilege of employment”
under the fourth prima facie case elemamlaintiff must show that her “workplace [wa]s
permeated with discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult that [wa]s suftlgisavere or
pervasive to alter the conditions of [her] employment and create an abusive working
environment.” Grosdidier v. Broad. Bd. of Governors, Chairm&@09 F.3d 19, 24 (D.Cir.
2013) (citation omitted)accord Floyd 968 F. Supp. 2d at 329. Moreover, the offending conduct
must satisfy both objective and subjective standards of hostility: That is, ibetstvere or
pervasve enough to create an objectively hostile or abusive work environment—an environment
that a reasonable person would find hostile or abusive,” and cause the “victim . . .\gligjecti
[to] perceive the environment to be abusivelarris v. Forklift Sys.|nc., 510 U.S. 17, 21-22
(1993) (articulating test of Title VII hostile work environmertgcordBrown v. Snoyw407 F.
Supp. 2d 61, 69-70 (D.D.C. 2005) (applyHarris to ADA hostile work environment claim).
“[O] bjective severity of harassment should be judged from the perspective sbaaiga

person in the plaintifé position, considering all the circumstance®ricale v. Sundowner



Offshore Servs., Inc523 U.S. 75, 81 (1998) (internal quotatimarks and citatioomitted).
“This objective testequires examination of the totality of the circumstances, including ‘the
frequency of the discriminatory [or retaliatory] conduct; its severity;thdrat is physically
threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whetherasonseblyinterferes
with an employee’s work performance.¥Whorton v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Autb24 F.
Supp. 2d 334, 353 (D.D.C. 2013) (quotidgrris, 510 U.S. at 23). “[S]imple teasing, offhand
comments, and isolated incidents (unless extremely sexmallgpt amount to discriminatory
changes in the terms and conditions of employmeraragher v. City of Boca Ratph24 U.S.
775, 788 (1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The prolongedlenialof a reasonablaccommodatiocanunderlie a hostile work
environmentlaim when “all the circumstances” would support such a cl&mcale 523 U.S.
at 81(internal quotation marks omittedY hat is, when making a hostile work environment
determination, the jury can weighnaongful denial of accommodation alongside evidence of
other harassment, and that other evidence can augment the weight of the denialdiyngugge
discriminatory animu$? SeeMarshall v. FedExpress Corp.130 F.3d 1095, 1099 (D.C. Cir.
1997) (explaining in dictéhat ahostile work environment under the ADA could result from an

injuriousdenial of a requested accommoda}jdfox v.Gen. Motors Corp.247 F.3d 169, 173,

54To be sure, the mere denial of a requested accalation, with nothing more, will not
rise to the level of a hostile work environmetee, e.gBlundell-Zuker v. Oakland Cntyrob.
Ct.,, 9 F. App’x 318, 319 (6th Cir. 2001) (unpublished) (holding that evidence of two meetings
where employee “was tolddahshe could not be accommodated and then offered [a] transfer”
were “insufficient to establish the kind of severe and pervasive misgaahecessary to state a
hostile environment claim”Barrett v. Covington & Burling LLP979 A.2d 1239, 1247 (D.C.
2009) (“The mere fact that Ms. Carter indicated that Covington would not accommodate
appellant with a 30—hour work week . . . , does not transform a failure to accommodate claim
into a hostile work environment claim.”). That is, a failtmeaccommodate clian cannot fully
merge with a hostile work environment claim because “a plaintiff may not comburetd acts
to form a hostile work environment claim without meeting the required hostile work
environment standard . . . Baird v. Gotbaum662 F.3d 1246, 1252 (D.C. Cir. 2011).



179 (4th Cir. 2001) (holding thamployer’sintentional refusalo accommodatemployee’s
disability and forcing him to “perform tasks beyond his medical restrictions,” coupthd
evidence of “constan[t]Verbal harassment and ostraciziaggetinghis disability, could support
a finding of a hostile work environmenBantazew. Jackson366 F. Supp. 2d 57, 71 (D.D.C.
2005) (holding that evidence tH#ébe agency frustratefdlhe employee’sefforts to secure the
reasonable accommodations he was entitled to by law,” that agency officiastataments
“suggest[ing] a discriminatory purposendthatthe employe@endued “unreasonably lengthy
delays precluded summary judgment amostile work environmenrtdlaim).

Here, if there were evidence that Ms. Flayas a qualified individual and that she had
been denied rest breakiserebyallowing her failureto-accommodate clairto survivesummary
judgmentthe factual circumstances of that claim mjghbugh perhaps just barely, support
jury finding of a hostile work environmenterne @ntered oradenial ofreasonable
accommodatiomnd related verbal harassmeBly this logic, theunlawful sevenmonthdenial
of accommodation woulde thenecessary (though not sufficient) ingredienivis. Floyd’s
hostile work environment claimthe core of the “pervasive” hostility that she experienced,
Harris, 510 U.S. at 21, which in turn would lend context to her other evidence of verbal
harassmenyiewed in the light most favorable tehseeFox, 247 F.3d at 173, 179 (describing
work forcing employee to exceed medical restrictions for backyirgoupled with constant
verbal harassmentPantazes366 F. Supp. 2d at 61-64, 71 (describing over two years of

“unreasonably lengthy delayahd statements “suggest[ing] a discriminatory purpose”

55 Rep. Jackson Lee limits her analysis of the hostile work environment claimderitsci
of verbalharassmentSeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Summ. J. 28-32 (focusing only on verbal
harassment). But Ms. Floyd’s hostile work environment claim rests on more thah ver
harassment alone. The amended complaint asserts that “[ijn addition [to Repn JasaKs
verbal insults], working without a reasonable accommodation . . . caused Ms. Floyd severe



But becaus¢he Court grants summary judgmem Ms.Floyd’s failure-to-accommodate
claim, see supr&art IV.B, shecannot rely on the denial of accommodation to support her
hostile work environment claim. Put differentifya plaintiff could not prevail on a standalone
failure-to-accommodate claimhesame alleged lack ciccommodation could nabnstitute
“severe or pervasive” harassment for purposes of a hostile work environment Glaistidier,
709 F.3d at 24 (describing features of hostile work environment harassohdvigrshall, 130
F.3d at 1099 (explaining that everthe plaintiff had advancedhstile work environment claim
onthe basis of denied accommodation, “it remains the case that her disabdity)(dreated no
occasion for accommodation in that joblPgantazes366 F. Supp. 2d at 71 (“[A] jury could
conclude that the agency frustrated plaintiff’s efforts to secure thenadale accommodations
he was entitled to by law. . .” (emphasis adde) Accordingly,Ms. Floydcannot base her
hostile work environment claim avidence o wrongful denial olaccommodation.

With the denial of accommodation out of the picture, whatainsfor purposes oMs.
Floyd’s hostile work environment claim is hevidence of verbal harassmeMs. Floyd
testified in her deposition that Rep. Jackker, whenpersonally denyinfperaccommodation

requests on two separate occasions, stated that she “didn’t care” and “dida’tigiven®°

mental and physical fatigue, eye straingd headaches.” Am. Compl. Z&e also id16, 18
(alleging that office’s refusal to provide or even discuss accommodationsni@erable”);see
alsoFloyd Dep. at 173:5E2 (same)seePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 20 (“Plaintiff's claim of a hostile
work environment is basenh part, on comments made by the Congresswoman regarding her
disability.” (emphasis added)).

%6 The Court rejects Rep. Jackson Lee’s argument that the alleged statemére that s
“didn’t give a damn” about Ms. Floyd’s disability, relayed through Mr. Thonsaimadmissible
hearsay.SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 30. At the outset, Rep. Jackson Lee argues that
Ms. Floyd conceded this evidentiary point in her deposition by explaining that she colyid “
go on” Mr. Thomas'’s recounting bease she “wasn’t there at the time of their conversation.”
Floyd Dep. at 170:18-19. The Court finds no such concession on account of Ms. Floyd’s
deposition testimony, which simply explained the factual circumstances sfatement and
expressed no opinion on whether it constituted hearsay as a matter of law. Turning to the



about Ms. Floyd’s disability in April 2010 and August 2010, respectively. Floyd Dep. at
130:19-23, 148:22-24. Additionally, over the course of her seven-month tenMi®, Floyd

was told ‘many times (at least “more than five” tim@svhen receiving new assignments from
Rep. Jackson Leatsheshould not take “ten years” to complete her work, Floyd Dep. at
171:19-172:16, and Rep. Jackson Lee had knowledge of Ms. Floyd’s monocular vision when
making these remarksee idat 141:9-17supranote 6°® But Rep. Jackson Lee’s remayks

even inferred to be crude attacks on Ms. Floyd’s disabdrgy insufficiently “severer

pervasive'to sustain her hostile work environment clai@rosdidier, 709 F.3d at 24seealso
Faragher, 524 U.S. at 788 (explaining that “simple teasing, offhand comments, and isolated

incidents (unless extremely serious)” do not constitute a hostile work environfeatye v.

substance of the hearsay challenge, the Court first finds that Mr. Thoeaamting is

admissible as a statement of an agent of a{ugynent; as the office’s Chief of Stafé tvas
relaying the Representative’s response to an employee’s inquiry about selabeki matter.
Seefed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(D). Rep. Jackson Lee’s statement, in turn, is admissible either on
the same grounds (she is alscagentof her office, though perhaps the most important agent),
see id801(d)(2),or because it is not hearsay atdlbr Ms. Floyd seeks not to prove the “truth

of the matter asserted’ €., that Rep. Jackson Leetually“didn’t give a damn”) but only that

such a remark was madeth discriminatory intentsee id.801(c)(2).

5" Rep. Jackson Lee in passing argues that the evidence shows no causal link between any
verbal harassment and Ms. Floyd’s disabiliBeeDef.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. ke
also Floyd 968 F. Supp. 2d at 328 (requiring causation). Although a scrupulous reader could
glean from these comments that Rep. Jackson Lee meant literally that stiecatiel’ (.e., held
no opinion one way or another) about Ms. Floyd’s impairment, the fact that both statesrent
made in response to requests for accommodation could easily support a reasonabteitiiat
the comments were made with discriminatory intent, and at summary judgment, the Giurt mu
draw inferences in Ms. Floyd’s favoSeeAnderson477 U.S. at 255.

8 To be sure, the “ten years” comments are open to the innocuous interpretation
proffered by Rep. Jackson Lee, that they were meant only to ask Ms. Floyd not tcospend t
much time on lower priority tasksSeeJackson Lee Dep. at 121:7-11 (“We rock and roll in the
office, and . . . I'm probably always saying something about getting [work] domg,upyrdon’t
take too long to get it, and it's because of the nature of the work.”). But at syjouohgment,
the Gurt must draw all inferences in Ms. Floyd's favor. As for causation, the evideeaed
in Ms. Floyd’s favor, shows that on each occasion, Rep. Jackson Lee spoke with knolndéedge t
Ms. Floyd had a vision impairmenSeeAnderson477 U.S. at 255.



Leavitt 407 F.3d 405, 408, 416-17 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (holding that evidence that plaintiff who
was told three times over the course of two months to “go back to Trinidad” or to “go back to
where [she] came from” could not sustdiitle VII hostile work environment claimgf. Ayissi

Etoh v. Fannie Mager12 F.3d 572, 580-81 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (Kavanaugh, J., concurring)
(explaining that single use of n-word was “sufficiently severe to juatffigding of a hostile

work environment,” given that “[n]o other word in the English language so powerfully or
instantly calls to mind our country’s long and brutal struggle to overcomeracid
discrimination against AfricasAmericans)).

In sum, considering the “totality of the circumstantaseasonable jury could not
conclude thathe verbal harassmetat which Ms. Floyd was subjected amounted to an
objectiely hostile work environmentAccordingly, the CourigrantsRep. Jackson Leersotion
for summary judgmerdn Ms. Floyd’s hostile work environment claim.

D. Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment

The amended complaint alleges ttia hostile work environmesuffered byMs. Floyd
constituted unlawful retaliation for her request for a reasonable accommodad¢ielm.
Compl. 19-21.

The ADA, as incorporated by the Congressional dwttability Act, makes it unlaful to
retaliate against an individutdr undertaking activity protected by that statute, 2 U.S.C.

§ 1317(a)® and as this Court previouslyeld, suchprotectedactivity includesrequests foa
reasonable accommodatiseeFloyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at 333.0 establish a prima facie case

for a retaliatory hostile work environment claim, a plainifiist proffer evidencthat(1) she

% The Congressional Accountability Actakesit unlawful to retaliate against a covered
employee because she “has opposed any practice made unlawful by this chapterserthecau
covered employee has initiated proceedings, made a charge, or testifgéeld assparticipated
in any manner in a hearing or other proceeding under this chapter.” 2 U.S.C. § 1317(a).



engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) she suffered a hostile wonloemant; and (3) a
causal link connects the tw&eeHussain v. Nicholsqt35 F.3d 359, 366 (D.C. Cir. 2006)
(explaining that both retaliatory discrete acts and edtaly hostile work environment are
actionable under Title VI{)Smith v. District of Columbja430 F.3d 450, 454-55 (D.C. Cir.
2005) (articulating prima facie elements for ADA retaliation claifyd, 968 F. Supp. 2d at
333-34%°

Rep. Jackson Lee is etaitl to judgment as a matter of law Ms. Floyd'’s retaliatory
hostile work environment claimn orderfor Ms. Floyd to prevail on this claimajury must find
thatshesuffered a hostile work environmerfsee Floyd968 F. Supp. 2d at 333=3&ke also
Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 32-33. But as explained above, such a finding cannot be
supported by the summary judgment recdsge supr&art IV.C. Accordingly, the Court grants
the motion for summary judgment as to Ms. Floyd’s retaliatory hostitk mvironment
claim 5!

E. Constructive Discharge

Ms. Floyd alleges thdter employer’s refusab provide a reasonable accommodation
resulted in her constructive discharggeeAm. Compl. 16, 17, 18, 21-22. In her motion for
summary judgmenRep. Jacksohee contends that, even under éinguendoassumption that
the evidence could establish a failure to accommottedes is no evidence that could support
the additional “aggravating factors” required to sustain a constructioleadge claim.See

Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 33-36. The Court agrees that Ms. Floyd’s constructive

€0 previously, this Court dismissed Ms. Floyd’s other retaliation claim, basedaetelis
act materially adverse actionSee Floyd968 F. Supp. 2d at 334.

®1In the alternative, Rep. Jackson Lee submits that Ms. Floyd proffers no evafenc
causal link between her accommodation requests and the alleged hostile work emtir&Geae
Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 33. The Court declineddoess this issue.



discharge claim cannot survive summary judgment, but on ageasilly distinct from that
advocated by Rep. Jackson Lee.

At the outset, because Ms. Floyd ladtegetherfailed to addreskerconstructive
dischargeclaimin her opposition, she has conceded the issue and abandoned heSeaim.
Hopkins 284 F. Supp. 2dt25. Nonetheless, the Court briefly explains why, even if she had
responded, her constructive discharge claim could not survive summary judgment.

The Court discerns two distinct approaches in the constructive dischargeupleispe
governing courts in this Circuit. The Supreme Court has taught phain&aff asserting a
constructive discharge claim must,addition to proving that she suffered discrimination, “show
that the abusive working environment became so intolerable that her resignatibedjas a
fitting response.”Pa. State Police v. SudeA2 U.S. 129, 134 (2004¢cordSteele v. Schafe
535 F.3d 689, 695 (D.C. Cir. 2008). “The inquiry is objective: Did working conditions become
so intolerable that a asonable person in the employee’s position would have felt compelled to
resign?” Suders 542 U.Sat 141. In applyingSudersthe D.C. Circuit hasxplained that
constructive discharge “requires a finding of discriminatiodthe existence of certain
‘aggravating factors.”Veitch v. England4d71 F.3d 124, 130 (D.C. Cir. 200@)tation
omitted)®? “ Aggravating factors’ are those aspects of a discriminatory work envirdrtiva,
by making the workplace so disagreeable, prevent the reasonable employsedking
remediation on the job.1d. Such aggravating factors carciude “historic discriminatichover

a period of several yeargepeated but futile attempts” to remedy the discriminaod,

2 Some commentators have noted that the Supreme Court’s deciSiodersmight call
into doubt the viability of earlier “aggravating factors” case lawBarbara T. Lindemann, Paul
Grossman & C. Geoffrey Weirichnhiployment Discriminaon Law 21-48-21-49 (5th ed.
2012). Not so in this Circuit, where the court of appeals has expressly incorpcr aizdier
“aggravating factors” line of decisions into t8aderdramework. See Veitch471 F.3d at 130.



“humiliation and loss of prestige” precipitated by the failure to obtain redf@sask v. Marsh
665 F.2d 1168, 1175-76 (D.C. Cir. 198By contrastconditions notsevere or pervasive”
enough to constitute a hostile work environmanthe same tokecannot constitute aggravating
factorssupporting a finding of constructive dischargze Veitch471 F.3d at 131 (explaining
insufficiency of nonselection for promotion, unfavorable assignments, and crjticisrahort,
“the standards for hostile work environment and constructive discharge are not deeXtémes
latter requires moreSteele 535 F.3dcat 694.

In a contrasting line of casébeD.C. Circuithasheld both before and aft&uderdhat
constructive discharge requires a showing that the emplagertionallydrove the employee to
quit. In Mungin v. Katten Muchin & Zavj416 F.3d 1549 (D.C. Cir. 1997), the court held that
“a finding of constructive discharge depends on whether the empleljeeratelymade
working conditions intolerable and drove the employee olgt.’at 1558 (quotatiomarks
omitted) (emphasis added). eRently, inWard, the D.C. Cicuit cited with approval both
Mungin's holding and a Fourth Circuit decision holding that a failure to accommodate could not
constitute constructive discharge without “evidence that the empldgetionally soughto
drive [the employee] frorher position.” Ward 762 F.3d at 35 (quotingphnson v. Shala]®91
F.2d 126, 131-32 (4th Cir. 1993)) (emphasis adds) alsdSuders542 U.S. at 152-54
(Thomas, J., dissentingdr(tiquing majority’s“hostile work environment plus” approach and
preferringtest requiringproofthatthe “employer subjected [tlEamployeéto an adverse
employment action with thgpecific intenf forcing the employee to qui(emphasis addej)1
Barbara T. Lindemann, Paul Grossman & C. Geoffrey Weiriolpleyment Discrimingon
Law 21-38 & n.91 (5th ed. 2014)eviewing and contrasting witlbudersappeals court

decisions requiring showing of specific intent).



The Court need not reconcil@s tension, however, because under eitiggroachthere
is no dispute of materidct that would enable Ms. Floyd’s constructive discharge claim to
survive summary judgment. First, there is not enough evidence that “the abusivegworki
environment became so intolerable that her resignation qualified as a Bgjpwnse.”Suders
542 U.S. at 134. To prevail on a constructive discharge claim, the plaintiff mustrtfakiner
showing” ofobjectively intolerable circumstanct®at go “beyod” a hostile work environment.
Id.; accord Steelgb35 F.3d at 695But the Court has alreadyncluded that thevidencecould
not supportfinding eitherof ahostile work environmensee suprdart I\V.C or of a failure to
accommodatesee suprdart IV.B.4 Logically, then this same evidence canrsattisfythe even
more demanding requirement that conditions were “so intolerable that a reagmrabtein
[her] position would have felt compelled to resign[Juders542 U.S. at 1483

Nor is there evidence that Rep. Jackson Lee or the Chiefs of @&ihbifflerately made
working conditions intolerable and drove [Ms. Floyd] ouVard 762 F.3d at 35-36 (quoting
Mungin 116 F.3d at 1558%ee also Floyd968 F. Supp. 2d at 33Bequiring evidence thaitffice
“deliberately denie[d] an accommodation knowing that the denial w[ould] make working
conditions so intolerable that [Ms. Floyd] w[ould] be forced to resig&t)en if, according to

Ms. Floyd’s testimonyRep. Jackson Lee and Héhiefs of Stafhad beerully aware of Ms.

63 Rep. Jackson Lee furtherntends that a constructive discharge claim is foreclosed by
evidence that Ms. Floyd, after deciding on August 6, 2010, to resign, remained ednioloy
over a month.SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 35-36. The Court disagrees. To be sure,
Ms. Floyd’sremaining on the job provides some probative evidence that, under the “objective”
inquiry of Sudersa reasonable person could not have found working conditions to be
“intolerable.” Suders542 U.S. at 141. On the other hand, the evidence that, when she resigned,
Ms. Floyd had noyet arrange@nother job cuts her favor. SeeFloyd Dep. at 187:22-25
(discussing interest in negotiating severance because “it would take . . . m@ne get a job”).
In short, the factual circumstances surrounding her resignation are disputed, d®agplained
above, this dispute is not “material” for summary judgment purposederson477 U.S. at
248.



Floyd’s monocular visionthere is no evidence thttey had specific knowledge of teeverity
of Ms. Floyd’simpairmentor thatcertain harsh wordsould force herto resign. To the
contrary, the parties do not dispute the fact that when she did resign, Rep. Jackasa Mee
Tsehai tried to persuade her to stay; this evidence runs counter to any inteng toeforc
departure.SeeFloyd Dep. at 213:16-215:15.

Because the evidence cannot support a finding either that Ms. Floyd’s working conditions
were ‘so intolerable that a asonable person in [her] position would have felt compelled to
resign,”Suders 542 U.Sat 141, or that her employer “intentionally sought to drive [her] from
her position,"Ward, 762 F.3d at 35, the Court grants Rep. Jackson Lee’s motion for summary

judgment on Ms. Floyd’s constructive discharge claim.

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s motion to dismiss and to revoke Psamtiff’
forma pauperistatus (ECF No. 49) BENIED, andDefendant’s motion for summary
judgment (ECF No. 53) IGRANTED. An Order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is

separatly andcontemporaneously issued.

Dated: March 31, 2015 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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